Study on the in vivo and in vitro links between diet and gut microbial community in Thai

キスセ, ジュマ, ムッサ

https://hdl.handle.net/2324/4110571

出版情報:九州大学,2020,博士(農学),課程博士 バージョン: 権利関係:

Study on the in vivo and in vitro links between diet and gut microbial community in Thai

Kisuse Juma Mussa 2020

Abstract

The human gastrointestinal tract is the home of a microbiota that plays a vital role in enhancing host living conditions. Diet is the key influential factor among the extrinsic factors contributing to the alteration of microbial composition, structure, and diversity. Notably, recent change in dietary life in the developing countries had profound effect on the microbiota of citizens. Since the loss of traditional diets is also serious in Thailand, especially the urban area, the author aims to capture the current status of Thai gut microbiota which may link to alteration of health condition in Thai.

The cross-sectional observational study was conducted on school-aged children of urban (n = 17) and rural (n = 28) in Thailand. Their dietary records indicated that children living in urban Bangkok tended to consume modern high-fat diets, whereas children in rural Buriram tended to consume traditional vegetable-rich diets. Sequencing of 16S rRNA genes amplified from their stool samples showed that children in Bangkok have less *Clostridiales* and more *Bacteroidales* and *Selenomonadales* compared to children in Buriram and that bacterial diversity is significantly less in Bangkok children than in Buriram children. In addition, fecal butyrate and propionate levels decreased in Bangkok children in Bangkok children in association with changes in their gut microbial communities.

Then, the author investigated the effect of staple food in Thailand, namely rice, on the gut microbiota by using in vitro culture model. The author focused on glutinous rice that has composed one of Thai traditional dietary culture, notably in north and northeast parts of Thailand. An in vitro mix culture of fecal bacteria community was performed in a single batch fermenter with pH control. Two different types of fecal microbiota were inoculated to media added by rice powders respectively prepared from sticky rice and jasmine rice and were incubated anaerobically for 24 h. The microbiome and short-chain fatty acid (SCFAs) production were monitored. In both media added by jasmine rice powder and sticky rice powder, lactate sharply increased after 12h with an increase of Bifidobacterium, whereas it was not observed in the control batch without the addition of rice powder. This result suggests that *Bifidobacterium* grew with lactate fermentation using rice carbohydrate. On the other hand, *Bacteroides* increased in the control batch and sticky rice batch, but not in jasmine rice batch, suggesting that *Bacteroides* prefers sticky rice to jasmine rice. The promotion of *Bifidobacterium* growth is expected to benefit the host health, while the health benefit *Bacteroides* increase requires further study.

This thesis shows an on-going effect of dietary modernization on the human colonic environment. It is indispensable to evaluate the functionality of each food in respect to the benefit to gut microbiota in addition to direct host benefit. To gain this insight, continue of in vivo and in vitro studies is important.

Acknowledgement

The author would like to extend his profound gratitude to Professor Jiro Nakayama (Laboratory of Microbial Technology, Division of Systems Bioengineering, Department of Bioscience and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture, Graduate School, Kyushu University, Japan), Professor Kenji Sakai (Laboratory of Soil and Environmental Microbiology, Faculty of Agriculture, Graduate School, Kyushu University, Japan), Professor Kaoru Takegawa (Laboratory of Applied Microbiology, Faculty of Agriculture, Graduate School, Kyushu University, Japan) and Assistant Professor Takeshi Zendo (Laboratory of Microbial Technology, Division of Systems Bioengineering, Department of Bioscience and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture, Graduate School, Kyushu University, Japan) for their general guidance, patience, constructive criticisms, understanding, logical and moral support, from the beginning to end of this study.

The author would like to thank Professor Kenji Sonomoto (Laboratory of Microbial Technology, Division of Systems Bioengineering, Department of Bioscience and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture, Graduate School, Kyushu University, Japan) for accepting him in his laboratory, guidance and fruitful criticisms related to the study.

The author would like to express his sincere appreciation to Asian Microbiome Project and all members involved during study, to mention few of them, Principal Investigator of the project Professor Yuan-Kun Lee (National University of Singapore), Professor Jiro Nakayama (Kyushu University, Fukuoka, Japan), Associate Professor Dr. Sunee Nitisinprasert (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand), Dr. Massalin Nakphaichit (Kasetsart University, Bangkok, Thailand), thank you very much for providing room for the author to grow in science. A special thanks to volunteer who participated in the Bangkok-Buriram study, as a key part to accomplish the research by providing sample and other research related information. On top of that, the author would like to recognize Mr. Phatthanaphong Therdtatha (Kyushu University, Kyushu, Japan) who extracted fecal metabolites from the participant's samples, also, the author would like to recognize wonderful support from Professor Dr. Shinji Fukuda (Keio University, Tokyo, Japan) for quantifying fecal metabolites.

The author would like to appreciate the contribution of previous and current members of microflora group, Dr. Masaru Tanaka, Ms. Azusa Yamamoto, Ms. Rie Momoda, Ms. Noriko Honda, Mr. Phatthanaphong Therdtatha, Ms. Misako Yoden, Ms. Ayaka Uchikawa, Ms. Riko Mishima, Ms. Yui Funatsu, Ms. Misato Horino, Mr. Shogo Kimura, Ms. Yayi Song, Ms. Mai Watanabe, Ms. Akari Shinoda, Ms. Sakura Onizuka, Mr. Toshihiko Seino, Mr. Riku Imanishi, Mr. Daisuke Nakagawa, and Mr. Keisaku Matsuzaki for their generous support in accomplishing this study and to all Microbial Technology laboratory members at Kyushu University.

Special thanks to the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) for providing moral and financial support to the author from the beginning to the end of his study.

Lastly, the author is very grateful to his Father and Mother, his lovely wife Atka Abbas Mushi and their children, for their strong support and encouragement throughout the period of his study, may God reward you all paradise.

Juma Mussa Kisuse

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgement	iii
Table of Contents	v
Chapter 1 General introduction	1
1.1. The gut microbiome	2
1.2. Link between diet and gut microbiome	3
1.3. Gut microbial metabolite and significant role of short-chain fatty	
acids (SCFAs)	4
1.4. Impact of Thai diet and Western diet on health of the host	6
1.4.1. Thai dietary habits	6
1.4.2. Impact of Western diet on health of the host	7
1.5. Gut microbiome of Thai community	9
1.6. In-vitro fermentation model for gut microbial community	9
1.7. Aims and outlines of this doctoral thesis	11
1.8. References	12
Chapter 2 Dietary habits changes in Thailand as linked to modern diets	25
2.1. Abstract	26
2.2. Introduction	27
2.3. Materials and methods	28
2.3.1. Study population characteristics	28
2.3.2. Dietary information recording	30
2.4. Results	31
2.5. Discussion	35
2.6. References	36

in Inaliand	38
3.1. Abstract	39
3.2. Introduction	40
3.3. Material and method	41
3.3.1. Study population characteristics	41
3.3.2. Stool sample collection for 16S rRNA and processing	41
3.3.3. DNA extraction	41
3.3.4. 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing	42
3.3.5. Processing of 16S rRNA gene sequences	43
3.3.6. Statistical analysis for the fecal bacterial community	44
3.4. Results	45
3.4.1. Composition of gut bacteria community of Bangkok and Bur	iram
children	45
3.4.2. Alpha diversity of gut bacterial community of Bangkok and l	Buriram
children	46
3.4.3. Difference in gut bacterial community between children in B	angkok
and Buriram	47
3.4.4. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) analysis	48
3.5. Discussion	51
	52

Chapter 3 Study on the link between diet and microbial communities in children

Ĵ	napter 4 Metabolomic alteration of gut microbiota of Thai children in		
	association with loss of traditional diets	59	
	4.1. Abstract	60	
	4.2. Introduction	61	
	4.3. Material and method	62	
	4.3.1. Study population characteristics	62	
	4.3.2. Stool sample collection and processing for metabolome analysis	62	
	4.3.3. Capillary electrophoresis time of flight mass spectrometry		

(CE-TOF MS) measurement	62
4.3.4. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe)	63
4.4. Results	64
4.4.1. Fecal SCFAs in Bangkok and Buriram children	64
4.4.2. Metabolotypes found in the fecal metabolite profiles of children in	
Bangkok and Buriram	65
4.4.3. The bacterial compositions of these five metabolotype groups were	
compared by LEfSe analysis	67
4.4.4. Predicted metagenomics for metabolotypes	70
4.4.5 Link of dietary nutrients to gut microbiome and metabolome	71
4.5. Discussion	74
4.6. References	77

Chapter 5 In vitro study on the influence of sticky rice on GIT microbial

	community	82
5	.1. Abstract	83
5	.2. Introduction	84
5	.3. Materials and method	86
	5.3.1. Study design	86
	5.3.2. Preparations of Thai sticky and jasmine rice powder	87
	5.3.3. Medium preparation for in vitro culture	88
	5.3.4. Single batch fermentation model with feces inoculant and rice powder	89
	5.3.5. pH measurement	90
	5.3.6. DNA extraction and 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing	91
	5.3.7. Processing of 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequences	91
	5.3.8. Quantification of short-chain fatty acid	91

5.3.9. Quantification of SCFAs by ¹ H NMR	92
5.4. Results	
5.4.1. Microbial profile fecal inoculant donors	93
5.4.2. Characteristic of bacterial composition of fecal inoculant	93
5.4.3. pH change profile in the in vitro fermentation	95
5.4.4. Change in bacteria composition in the in vitro rice fermentation	96
5.4.4.1. Change in alpha diversity	96
5.4.4.2. Microbial community shift during fermentation of sticky and jasmi	ne
rice	97
5.4.4.4. Changes in the ration of Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria and Firmicu	tes 99
5.4.4.5. SCFAs production in in vitro fermentation	100
5.5. Discussion	103
5.6 References	105

Chapter 6 Summary and concluding remarks	109
References	113
List of publications	115

Chapter 1

General introduction

1.1. The gut microbiome

The microbiome is a collective term for the community of the microorganism resides in or on a particular environment of the living organism, such as the human body, which includes a population of bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa, etc. [1]. The human gastrointestinal tract (GIT) is the home of a microbiome that plays a vital role in enhancing host living conditions. The GIT microbiome is acquired at birth and increases its diversity as human growth while shifting depending on the external and internal factors [1]–[5]. Diet is the key influential factor among the extrinsic factors contributing to the composition and diversity of gut microbiota [1]–[3].

Firmicutes and *Bacteroidetes* are the major dominant phyla in human GIT microbiome, each including several families. However, *Bacteroides*, which belongs to *Bacteroidetes*, tends to dominate GIT microbiome of people in the developed countries at the genus level as compared to most abundant *Firmicutes* genera [6]–[8]. Human microbiome are clustered as enterotypes based on the composition of the microbiome structure. Enterotypes stand as community types of gut microbiome cored by dominant taxa, *Prevotella*, *Bacteroides*, and *Ruminococcus*, respectively [9]. However, enterotypes by *Bacteroides* and *Ruminococcus* are not always observed as discrete clusters while *Prevotella* enterotype is observed widely over the world as the distinctively high abundance of this and related genera [10], [11]. Further, enterotypes are more or less consistent in individuals but changeable over time if a cause happens [11].

Gut microbiota benefits the host by its significant role of short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) fermentation on non-digestible substrates like dietary fibres from carbohydrates [12], [13]. Some of these facilitate energy balance in the host through enhancing calories harvesting, consuming, and storing in the body for future use [14]. Not limited to SCFA production, but also indolepropionic acid, correlate with reducing risk of type 2 diabetes [15], [16].

Human beings and other animals' benefit from hosting gut microbiome. The linking between commensal microbial community and secretory Immunoglobulin A (IgA) helps to shape the microbial community, prevent mucosal infection together with follicular helper cells (Tfh), e.g., T-helper 17 (Th17) which confer mucosal immunity against invading enteropathogens [17], [18].

The gut microbiome provides several benefits as explained before, hence researching them is essential to ensure the better way that hosts can manipulate microbiome and their bio-products and gain advantage from their fermentative function.

1.2. Link between diet and gut microbiome

Diet, with its entirety composition of energy and nutrients in foods and beverages consumed regularly by people [19], have profound impacts on their gut microbiome composition and diversity [1]–[3]. The gut microbiome's digestive ability on different food components shape up its structure and increases its metabolic activity as well as rendering the host energy increase available and, enhancing the high capacity of its storage [20]. Different types of diets are being consumed worldwide not only for energy and nutrient intakes but also as a part of the cultural activity or for the purposes of shaping up body. The varieties dietary habits include the Paleo diet, Vegetarian diet, Vegan diet, Mediterranean diet, Chinese herbal diet, Washoku diet, Microbiotic diet, Ketogenic diet, and Western diet. Some of these dietary habits offer varieties of minor and major nutritional components that significantly influence host well-being, even partially for specific population or specific occasion [78]. The digestion of simple and complex sugars, as well as resistance starches, is active in the descending part of GIT with ultra-dense microbial community consisting of the highest variety of species among human microbiome [21]–[23],[74]. However, a diet rich in fat causes a decrease in *Bacteroidetes* families *Bacteriodaceae*, *Prevotellaceae*, and *Rickenellaceae* with the increase of *Clostridiaceae* [24]. Likewise, it is well documented that the ratio of *Bacteroidetes* to *Firmicutes* are reduced, while the proportion of *Enterobacteriales* and *Escherichia coli* significantly increases in animals fed a high-fat diet. [25] Elsewhere, the protein-rich diet was found to show a mixed effects on the gut microbiome through its metabolites [26].

In general, end products of dietary digestion, via the action of the microbiome, provide necessary nutritional benefits to the host, as well as determine the intestine's health. These effects can be the consequence of short-term or long-term interventions leading to transient or permanent host transformation.

1.3. Gut microbial metabolite and significant role of short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs)

Gut microbial metabolites have a great impact on the organism's health. They can be evaluated by fecal metabolites which represents the end products of food molecules in GIT [27]. Wide range of diets including carbohydrates, proteins, lipids as well as some plants phenolic compounds contribute to the production of the known varieties of metabolites. These metabolites include major short-chain fatty acids (SCFA), vitamin production, amino acid (AAs) synthesis, branched-chain fatty acids (BCFA) e.g., Iso-valerate and Iso-butyrate. Moreover, some minor metabolites like phenolics, trimethylamine N-oxide (TMA), choline, betaine, carnitine, biogenic amines are included in the metabolites composition produced [28], [29].

The SCFAs are highly produced in the GIT microbiome and rapidly absorbed to the host and thereafter voided in the feces. The major fecal SCFAs are acetate, propionate, and butyrate and they are detected with the ratio of 60:20:20 although the ratio varies substantially depending on individual microbiome and consumed diets [81], [82]. Acetate and propionate are produced in the small and large intestines, while butyrate is found mainly in the cecum and colon [30]. Acetate is produced in a variety of biosynthetic pathways including synthesis from hydrogen and carbon dioxide or formic acid by acetogenic bacteria as well as carbohydrates fermentation performed by a large variety of intestinal bacteria [31]. Several members of the clostridial clusters IV and XIVa in GIT, including, *Roseburia* species, *Lachnospiraceae* species and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* are butyrate producers, while propionate producers are scarce with mainly involving of clostridial cluster IX [31], and few *Bacteroides* and *Prevotella* species [32].

SCFAs maintains the homeostatic environment of the gut by providing energy to the colonic epithelial cells [12], [13]. Also, they help to preserve intestinal barrier through regulating the expression of tight junction proteins [30], and, help to control lipid and glucose metabolism [33], [34]. Moreover, SCFAs are involved in activation of GPR41 and GPR43, leading to the secretion of chemokines and cytokines, which mediate protection of tissue inflammation on the intestinal epithelial cells [35]. On the other hand, butyrate inhibits histone deacetylase (HDAC) related to suppressing malignant transformation and removing precancerous cells in the colon through apoptosis [36]. Altogether, SCFAs play an important role in maintaining the intestine's health condition while making balance of gut microbiome. Major SCFAs produced are mostly achieved by metabolic cross-feeding, such as converting acetate to butyrate. The metabolic crossfeeding can also be achieved by propionate producing bacteria of clostridial cluster IX [31]. However, significant imbalance of gut microbiota, the status so-called "dysbiosis", is accompanied by low SCFA production, therein gets rid of these benefits of SCFAs and leads to non-communicable diseases [31], [37]–[39].

Diet rich in vegetables, fibers, and fruits benefits the consumer by establishing better health linking with increased beneficial gut microbiota and production of diversified microbial metabolites to play a great role in decreasing gastrointestinal disease e.g. colon cancer, celiac sprue and metabolic diseases such as diabetes mellitus.

1.4. Impact of Thai diet and Western diet on health of the host

1.4.1. Thai dietary habits

Diet style differs among the four regions of Thailand, namely northern, northeastern, central, and southern [76]. Like other Asian countries, Thai eat rice as a staple food supplying a major source of carbohydrates. This complies with the recent findings, which indicated a high frequency of rice consumption to the Thai children as compared to children from China and Japan [40]. In northern and north-eastern Thailand, people consumed steamed glutinous, and fermented rice as well as non-glutinous rice, while people in central and southern area mainly eat steamed rice [77]. The dietary dishes in different regions of Thai carry different compositions as well as taste [78]. It is reported that high vegetables and low in fat were the main characteristics of Thailand's traditional cuisines [40]. In northern and southern dishes tend to be spicy, while being milder with added sugar, coconut milk in northern area. In central area, many dishes are flavoured with herbs, sugar, and coconut milk [79], [80]. Thai curry is world famous menu but differs in compositions and taste among areas [78]. It is also reported that there is a possible anti-tumour promoting properties of traditional Thai food items and some of their active constituents [41].

Food modernization has taken a toll on the Thai diet in which there are marked increased consumption of fat, sugar, and animal proteins [42]. The effect of an increase in fat consumption associates with some metabolic diseases like diabetes [43]. The growth of the retailing market became mostly dominated by the modern "supermarket and convenience stores and causes decrease of tradition food consumption in Thai people" [44]. Likewise, there was an increase in expenditure on Western food in Thailand by 40% from 1999 to the year 2005 [83]. The data indicate that the affected regions concentrated urban areas, whereas people in rural still keep the traditional dietary composition, although reported to start leaning to the West [45].

To improve the nutritional status citizen, Thai started documentation of all nutritional data in Thai Food Composition Database [84], while, providing education to its citizen on the beneficial dietary practices [46]–[48].

1.4.2. Impact of Western diet on health of the host

Western Diet (WD) can be characterized high in fat, sugar, animal protein and low in dietary fiber in its composition. There is a report showing such WD damages gut microbial community, within a short time intervention in humanized mice [49]. Moreover, increased consumption of WD, which contains excessive refined sugars and, red meats and less fruits, and vegetables, is associated with systemic inflammation leading to the high risk of several metabolic diseases, e.g. obesity and diabetes mellitus [50], [51]. Since WD contains high lipids, it enhances the deposition to visceral adipose. Surging the amount of adipocytes in blood, sends, a false alarm to the brain to releases inflammatory substances including interleukin (IL) 1, IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) over time [52], [53], and the body has a low response to the same kind of alarm/infection due to inflammatory substances being deactivated/silenced. When the infection real happens, the body delays in releasing response, and hence infection is acquired. Therefore, the overconsumption of WD upturns inflammation resulting in the increase of risk of both communicable and no-communicable disease [52], [54].

The summary of the microbiome changes following the intervention of WD ranges depending on the condition of a subject is exposed on. The transition of Thai dietary style to the West, influences nutrient balance of consumers but also their gut microbiome [42], [45], [55]. A recent study on the Thai people who migrated to US showed a marked increase in *Bacteroides* with a decrease in *Prevotella* [56]. Apart from dietary interventions, increase or decrease in some bacteria species supposedly could be used as an important biomarker for disease diagnosis as well as in prognosis in a near future.

Gut microbial community biosynthesizes a series of vitamins, which act as co-enzymes assisting in glucose, fat, and protein metabolism as well as RNA and DNA synthesis [57]. WD may hamper the vitamin biosynthesis by gut microbiome. It is also known that dietary emulsifier frequently used in processed food have adverse effect through the increase of bacterial translocation across epithelia, which may link to increased societal incidence of obesity/metabolic syndrome and other chronic inflammatory diseases [58]. Altogether, overconsumption of WD high risk to promote any disease with both short-term and long-term interference on the gut microbiome [58].

1.5. Gut microbiome of Thai community

The microbiome of the Thai population has been documented in different age groups by several researches [40], [45], [55], [59]. Briefly, the Thai population has two enterotype-like microbiome community, each defined by high abundance of Prevotella (P-type) or high abundance of *Bacteroides* and *Bifidobacterium* (BB-type). The report showed that children in urban Bangkok harbored BB-type while rural children in rural Khon Kaen had P-type, suggesting that Thai people is in the transition state at the enterotype phase from P-type to BB-type [40]. This observation complies with their dietary status being modernized from urban to rural. The shift in enterotype phase was also observed in a study investigating gut microbiome of vegetarians and non-vegetarians in Bangkok in which vegetarians mostly harboured P-type [55]. These findings suggest that P-type favours plant-based diets. Moreover, recent study, which will be presented in this thesis, emphasized the impact of modern diet with findings that gut microbiome of urban children has lower bacterial diversity with less amount of SCFA productivity compared to rural children [45].

1.6. In-vitro fermentation model for gut microbial community

An in-vitro culture of gut microbial community can be employed to monitor the real-time bacteria growth as well as metabolism in the community. It may range from batch to dynamic fermentation models [60]. It may start from unknown community of bacteria such as fecal sample or known bacteria mixture, both being monitored by any systems including real-time PCR or next generation sequencer (NGS) [61]. Alternatively, human trials always provide straightforward results but is accompanied by the invasive examination and frequent and excess sampling [62]. Also, human trial always suffers from big variance due to different background of participants, not like model animal experiments, which obliges the researchers to study using a large number of subjects. In-vitro fermentation model has a potential to substitute such human study with fast and high-efficiency outcome under many parameter-controlled experiments [63]. Furthermore, enrichment and isolation of bacteria from microbiome are available, notably using different set of substrates in the fermentation [64]–[68].

However, in-vitro studies are not free from errors and challenges that include slow substrate digestion or complete stop of metabolism of substrates on the presence of inoculum [62] the coupling of metabolites, [69] which might affect result stability and reproducibility of the study.

Also, in vivo culture model always validates the findings in-question on how the medium in fermenter reflects real physiological condition of host. One of the goals of in vitro model is to realize the microbiome community in fermenter with same composition and same metabolic activity as fecal inoculants. Next generation sequencer (NGS) and LC-MS or NMR are powerful tool to compare microbiome structure and metabolic activity between in-vitro and in-vivo samples [70].

10

1.7. Aims and outlines of this doctoral thesis

The dietary transition in Thailand has reported affecting the consumer's health [71]. The author has attracted interest in the importance of traditional local food over the influence of modern foods on young Asians' intestinal microbiome for better understanding the effect of urbanization on Thai diets. To address this notion, the comparative cross-sectional study in urban (Bangkok) and rural (Buriram) cites in Thailand was conducted. The influence of the diet was measured in terms of structure and functionality of the gut microbiome and metabolome configurations.

Rice was the major carbohydrate source consumed in the rural and urban Thailand population. They consumed mainly steamed white rice but steamed glutinous/sticky rice as well that is predominantly consumed in north and northeast parts of Thailand. Rice constitute the main food components in their diet. The effect of sticky rice in the consumers in comparison to white rice is yet to be established. Hence in this thesis, the author intends to elucidate their importance by measuring the microbiome and SCFAs composition produced in the in vitro culture model as indicators of the health.

1.8. References

- Y.-K. Lee, 'Effects of Diet on Gut Microbiota Profile and the Implications for Health and Disease', *Biosci. Microbiota, Food Heal.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2012.
- [2] C. De Filippo, D. Cavalieri, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, J. B. Poullet, S. Massart,
 S. Collini, G. Pieraccini, and P. Lionetti, 'Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 107, no. 33, pp. 14691–14696, 2010.
- [3] J. Zhang, Z. Guo, A. A. Q. Lim, Y. Zheng, E. Y. Koh, D. Ho, J. Qiao, D. Huo, Q. Hou, W. Huang, L. Wang, C. Javzandulam, C. Narangerel, Jirimutu, Menghebilige, Y.-K. Lee, and H. Zhang, 'Mongolians core gut microbiota and its correlation with seasonal dietary changes.', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 4, p. 5001, 2014.
- P. J. Turnbaugh, M. Hamady, T. Yatsunenko, B. L. Cantarel, A. Duncan, R. E. Ley,
 M. L. Sogin, W. J. Jones, B. A. Roe, J. P. Affourtit, M. Egholm, B. Henrissat, A. C. Heath, R. Knight, and J. I. Gordon, 'A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins', *Nature*, vol. 457, no. 7228, pp. 480–484, 2009.
- [5] C. a. Lozupone, J. I. Stombaugh, J. I. Gordon, J. K. Jansson, and R. Knight, 'Diversity, stability and resilience of the human gut microbiota', *Nature*, vol. 489, no. 7415, pp. 220–230, 2012.
- [6] K. Kurokawa, T. Itoh, T. Kuwahara, K. Oshima, H. Toh, A. Toyoda, H. Takami, H. Morita, V. K. Sharma, T. P. Srivastava, T. D. Taylor, H. Noguchi, H. Mori, Y. Ogura, D. S. Ehrlich, K. Itoh, T. Takagi, Y. Sakaki, T. Hayashi, and M. Hattori, 'Comparative metagenomics revealed commonly enriched gene sets in human gut microbiomes', *DNA Res.*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 169–181, 2007.

- J. Qin, Y. Li, Z. Cai, S. S. Li, J. Zhu, F. Zhang, S. Liang, W. Zhang, Y. Guan, D. Shen, Y. Peng, D. Zhang, Z. Jie, W. Wu, Y. Qin, W. Xue, J. Li, L. Han, D. Lu, P. Wu, Y. Dai, X. Sun, Z. Li, A. Tang, S. Zhong, X. Li, W. Chen, R. Xu, M. Wang, Q. Feng, M. Gong, J. Yu, Y. Zhang, M. Zhang, T. Hansen, G. Sanchez, J. Raes, G. Falony, S. Okuda, M. Almeida, E. LeChatelier, P. Renault, N. Pons, J.-M. Batto, Z. Zhang, H. Chen, R. Yang, W. Zheng, S. S. Li, H. Yang, J. J. Wang, S. D. Ehrlich, R. Nielsen, O. Pedersen, K. Kristiansen, and J. J. Wang, 'A metagenome-wide association study of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes', *Nature*, vol. 490, no. 7418, pp. 55–60, 2012.
- [8] E. G. Zoetendal, M. Rajilić-Stojanović, and W. M. De Vos, 'High-throughput diversity and functionality analysis of the gastrointestinal tract microbiota', *Gut*, vol. 57, no. 11, pp. 1605–1615, 2008.
- [9] M. Arumugam, J. Raes, E. Pelletier, D. Le Paslier, J. Batto, M. Bertalan, N. Borruel, and F. Casellas, 'Enterotypes of the human gut microbiome', *Nature*, vol. 473, no. 7346, pp. 174–180, 2013.
- [10] A. L. G. Wu Gary D., 'Diet and the Intestinal Microbiome: Association, Functions, and Implications for Health and Disease', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 146, no. 6, pp. 1564–1572, 2014.
- [11] K. Faust, J. F. Sathirapongsasuti, J. Izard, N. Segata, D. Gevers, J. Raes, and C. Huttenhower, 'Microbial co-occurrence relationships in the Human Microbiome', *PLoS Comput. Biol.*, vol. 8, no. 7, 2012.
- [12] D. Ríos-Covián, P. Ruas-Madiedo, A. Margolles, M. Gueimonde, C. G. De los Reyes-Gavilán, and N. Salazar, 'Intestinal short chain fatty acids and their link with diet and human health', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 7, pp. 1–9, 2016.

- [13] D. J. Morrison and T. Preston, 'Formation of short chain fatty acids by the gut microbiota and their impact on human metabolism', *Gut Microbes*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 189–200, 2016.
- [14] F. Bäckhed, H. Ding, T. Wang, L. V. Hooper, Y. K. Gou, A. Nagy, C. F. Semenkovich, and J. I. Gordon, 'The gut microbiota as an environmental factor that regulates fat storage', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 101, no. 44, pp. 15718–15723, 2004.
- [15] R. A. K. W.H. Wilson Tang, M.D., Zeneng Wang, Ph.D., Bruce S. Levison, Ph.D.,
 M. D. B.S., Earl B. Britt, M.D., Xiaoming Fu, M.S., Yuping Wu, Ph.D., and Stanley
 L. Hazen, and Ph.D., Intestinal Microbial Metabolism of Phosphatidylcholine and
 Cardiovascular Risk, *N Engl J Med.*, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 40–48, 2016.
- [16] V. D. De Mello, J. Paananen, J. Lindström, M. A. Lankinen, L. Shi, J. Kuusisto, J. Pihlajamäki, S. Auriola, M. Lehtonen, O. Rolandsson, I. A. Bergdahl, E. Nordin, P. Ilanne-Parikka, S. Keinänen-Kiukaanniemi, R. Landberg, J. G. Eriksson, J. Tuomilehto, K. Hanhineva, and M. Uusitupa, 'Indolepropionic acid and novel lipid metabolites are associated with a lower risk of type 2 diabetes in the Finnish Diabetes Prevention Study', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, pp. 1–12, 2017.
- [17] A. K. Marwaha, N. J. Leung, A. N. McMurchy, and M. K. Levings, 'TH17 cells in autoimmunity and immunodeficiency : Protective or Pathogenic?', *Front. Immunol.*, vol. 3, pp. 1–8, 2012.
- [18] B. Li, C. Selmi, R. Tang, M. E. Gershwin, and X. Ma, 'The microbiome and autoimmunity: a paradigm from the gut–liver axis', *Cell. Mol. Immunol.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 595–609, 2018.

- [19] A. A. Aragon, B. J. Schoenfeld, R. Wildman, S. Kleiner, T. VanDusseldorp, L. Taylor, C. P. Earnest, P. J. Arciero, C. Wilborn, D. S. Kalman, J. R. Stout, D. S. Willoughby, B. Campbell, S. M. Arent, L. Bannock, A. E. Smith-Ryan, and J. Antonio, 'International society of sports nutrition position stand: Diets and body composition', *J. Int. Soc. Sports Nutr.*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1–19, 2017.
- [20] C. L. Gentile and T. L. Weir, 'The gut microbiota at the intersection of diet and human health', *Science*, vol. 362, no. 6416, pp. 776–780, 2018.
- [21] H. J. Flint, K. P. Scott, S. H. Duncan, P. Louis, and E. Forano, 'Microbial degradation of complex carbohydrates in the gut © 2012 Landes Bioscience . Do not distribute © 2012 Landes Bioscience . Do not distribute', *Gut Microbes*, no. August, pp. 289–306, 2012.
- [22] I. Rowland, G. Gibson, A. Heinken, K. Scott, J. Swann, I. Thiele, and K. Tuohy,
 'Gut microbiota functions: metabolism of nutrients and other food components',
 Eur. J. Nutr., vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 1–24, 2018.
- [23] H. D. Holscher, 'Dietary fiber and prebiotics and the gastrointestinal microbiota', *Gut Microbes*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 172–184, 2017.
- [24] Hildebrandt M. A., C. Hoffman, S. A. Sherrill-Mix, S. A. Keilbaugh, and G. Hamady, Ying-Yu Chen, R. Knight, R.S. Ahima, F. Bushman, and D. Wu, 'High Fat Diet Determines the Composition of the Murine Gut Microbiome Independently of Obesity', *Gastroenterology.*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2010.
- [25] S. Ramos-Romero, M. Hereu, L. Atienza, J. Casas, O. Jáuregui, S. Amézqueta, G. Dasilva, I. Medina, M. R. Nogués, M. Romeu, and J. L. Torres, 'Mechanistically different effects of fat and sugar on insulin resistance, hypertension, and gut

microbiota in rats', *Am. J. Physiol. - Endocrinol. Metab.*, vol. 314, no. 6, pp. E552–E563, 2018.

- [26] M. Aguirre, A. Eck, M. E. Koenen, P. H. M. Savelkoul, A. E. Budding, and K. Venema, 'Diet drives quick changes in the metabolic activity and composition of human gut microbiota in a validated in vitro gut model', *Res. Microbiol.*, vol. 167, no. 2, pp. 114–125, 2016.
- [27] O. Fiehn, 'Metabolomics The link between genotypes and phenotypes', *Plant Mol. Biol.*, vol. 48, no. 1–2, pp. 155–171, 2002.
- [28] K. A. Verbeke, A. R. Boobis, A. Chiodini, C. A. Edwards, A. Franck, M. Kleerebezem, A. Nauta, J. Raes, E. A. F. Van Tol, and K. M. Tuohy, 'Towards microbial fermentation metabolites as markers for health benefits of prebiotics', *Nutr. Res. Rev.*, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 42–66, 2015.
- [29] K. Oliphant and E. Allen-Vercoe, 'Macronutrient metabolism by the human gut microbiome: Major fermentation by-products and their impact on host health', *Microbiome*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 2019.
- [30] S. Krishnan, N. Alden, and K. Lee, 'Pathways and functions of gut microbiota metabolism impacting host physiology', *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.*, vol. 36, pp. 137– 145, 2015.
- [31] P. Louis, K. P. Scott, S. H. Duncan, and H. J. Flint, 'Understanding the effects of diet on bacterial metabolism in the large intestine', *J. Appl. Microbiol.*, vol. 102, no. 5, pp. 1197–1208, 2007.
- [32] P. Louis and H. J. Flint, 'Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota', *Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 29–41, 2017.

- [33] Y. Furusawa, Y. Obata, S. Fukuda, T. A. Endo, G. Nakato, D. Takahashi, Y. Nakanishi, C. Uetake, K. Kato, T. Kato, M. Takahashi, N. N. Fukuda, S. Murakami, E. Miyauchi, S. Hino, K. Atarashi, S. Onawa, Y. Fujimura, T. Lockett, J. M. Clarke, D. L. Topping, M. Tomita, S. Hori, O. Ohara, T. Morita, H. Koseki, J. Kikuchi, K. Honda, K. Hase, and H. Ohno, 'Commensal microbe-derived butyrate induces the differentiation of colonic regulatory T cells', *Nature*, vol. 504, no. 7480, pp. 446–450, 2013.
- [34] I. Kimura, K. Ozawa, D. Inoue, T. Imamura, K. Kimura, T. Maeda, K. Terasawa, D. Kashihara, K. Hirano, T. Tani, T. Takahashi, S. Miyauchi, G. Shioi, H. Inoue, and G. Tsujimoto, 'The gut microbiota suppresses insulin-mediated fat accumulation via the short-chain fatty acid receptor GPR43', *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 4, no.1829, 2013.
- [35] M. H. Kim, S. G. Kang, J. H. Park, M. Yanagisawa, and C. H. Kim, 'Short-chain fatty acids activate GPR41 and GPR43 on intestinal epithelial cells to promote inflammatory responses in mice', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 145, no. 2, pp. 396– 406.e10, 2013.
- [36] M. Waldecker, T. Kautenburger, H. Daumann, C. Busch, and D. Schrenk, 'Inhibition of histone-deacetylase activity by short-chain fatty acids and some polyphenol metabolites formed in the colon', *J. Nutr. Biochem.*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 587–593, 2008.
- [37] C. Llorente and B. Schnabl, 'The Gut Microbiota and Liver Disease', *Cmgh*, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 275–284, 2015.

- [38] E. S. Chambers, T. Preston, G. Frost, and D. J. Morrison, 'Role of Gut Microbiota-Generated Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Metabolic and Cardiovascular Health', *Curr. Nutr. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 198–206, 2018.
- [39] D. P. Venegas, M. K. De La Fuente, G. Landskron, M. J. González, R. Quera, G. Dijkstra, H. J. M. Harmsen, K. N. Faber, and M. A. Hermoso, 'Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases', *Front. Immunol.*, vol. 10, 2019.
- [40] J. Nakayama, K. Watanabe, J. Jiang, K. Matsuda, S.-H. Chao, P. Haryono, O. Laongkham, M.-A. Sarwoko, I. N. Sujaya, L. Zhao, K.-T. Chen, Y.-P. Chen, H.-H. Chiu, T. Hidaka, N.-X. Huang, C. Kiyohara, T. Kurakawa, N. Sakamoto, K. Sonomoto, K. Tashiro, H. Tsuji, M.-J. Chen, V. Leelavatcharamas, C.-C. Liao, S. Nitisinprasert, E. S. Rahayu, F.-Z. Ren, Y.-C. Tsai, and Y.-K. Lee, 'Diversity in gut bacterial community of school-age children in Asia', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, p. 8397, 2015.
- [41] A. Murakami, H. Ohigashi, and K. Koshimizu, 'Possible anti-tumour promoting properties of traditional Thai food items and some of their active constituents.', *Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 3, no. 4. pp. 185–191, 1994.
- [42] V. Kosulwat, 'The nutrition and health transition in Thailand', *Public Health Nutr.*, vol. 5, no. 1a, pp. 183–189, 2002.
- [43] S. Wibulpolpraset, *Thailand Health Profile (2005-2007)*. Bureau of Policy and Strategy, 2008.
- [44] M. Kelly, C. Banwell, J. Dixon, S.-A. Seubsman, V. Yiengprugsawan, and A. Sleigh, 'Nutrition transition, food retailing and health equity in Thailand.', *Australas. Epidemiol.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 4–7, 2010.

- [45] J. Kisuse, O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka, S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in Thailand', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2018.
- [46] K. Korwanich, P. Malikaew, and A. Sheiham, 'School Food Policies and Practices for Young Children in Primary Schools', *CMU. Journal*, vol. 5(1), pp. 95–102, 2006.
- [47] N. Meethien, L. Pothiban, S. K. Ostwald, K. Sucamvang, and S. Panuthai, 'Effectiveness of nutritional education in promoting healthy eating among elders in northeastern Thailand.', *Pacific Rim Int. J. Nurs. Res.*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 188–201 14p, 2011.
- [48] S. Flodmark and M. Hedström, (2017). 'Nutritional habits and physical activity among university students in Thailand', Bachelor Thesis, Uppsala Universitet, Uppsala.
- [49] P. J. Turnbaugh, V. K. Ridaura, J. J. Faith, F. E. Rey, R. Knight, and J. I. Gordon, 'The effect of diet on the human gut microbiome: A metagenomic analysis in humanized gnotobiotic mice', *Sci. Transl. Med.*, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 1–12, 2009.
- [50] C. K. Patrice D. Cani, Jacques Amar, Miguel Angel Iglesias, Marjorie Poggi, C. C. Delphine Bastelica, Audrey M. Neyrinck, Francesca Fava, Kieran M. Tuohy, B. C. Aure´ lie Waget, Evelyne Delme´e, Be´atrice Cousin, Thierry Sulpice, N. M. D. Jean Ferrie`res, Jean-Franc,ois Tanti, Glenn R. Gibson, Louis Casteilla, and and R. B. Marie Christine Alessi, 'Metabolic Endotoxemia Initiates Obesity and Insulin Resistance', *Diabetes*, vol. 55, no. 5, pp. 1232–1242, 2006.

- [51] G. S. H. Kathryn E Wellen, 'Inflammation stress and diabetes', *Clin. Invest*, vol. 115, no. 5, pp. 1111–1119, 2005.
- [52] J. J. Milner and M. A. Beck, 'The impact of obesity on the immune response to infection', *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 298–306, 2012.
- [53] D. Statovci, M. Aguilera, J. MacSharry, and S. Melgar, 'The impact of western diet and nutrients on the microbiota and immune response at mucosal interfaces', *Front. Immunol.*, vol. 8:838, 2017.
- [54] I. A. Myles, 'Fast food fever: Reviewing the impacts of the Western diet on immunity', Nutr. J., vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 1–17, 2014.
- [55] S. Ruengsomwong, O. La-Ongkham, J. Jiang, B. Wannissorn, J. Nakayama, and S. Nitisinprasert, 'Microbial community of healthy Thai vegetarians and non-vegetarians, their core gut microbiota and pathogens risk.', *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 1723–1735, 2016.
- [56] P. Vangay, A. J. Johnson, T. L. Ward, G. A. Al-Ghalith, R. R. Shields-Cutler, B. M. Hillmann, S. K. Lucas, L. K. Beura, E. A. Thompson, L. M. Till, R. Batres, B. Paw, S. L. Pergament, P. Saenyakul, M. Xiong, A. D. Kim, G. Kim, D. Masopust, E. C. Martens, C. Angkurawaranon, R. McGready, P. C. Kashyap, K. A. Culhane-Pera, and D. Knights, 'US Immigration Westernizes the Human Gut Microbiome', *Cell*, vol. 175, no. 4, pp. 962–972.e10, 2018.
- [57] S. Magnúsdóttir, D. Ravcheev, V. De Crécy-Lagard, and I. Thiele, 'Systematic genome assessment of B-vitamin biosynthesis suggests cooperation among gut microbes', *Front. Genet.*, vol. 6, no. MAR, 2015.

- [58] B. Chassaing, O. Koren, J. Goodrich, A. Poole, S. Srinivasan, R. E. Ley, and A. T. Gewirtz, 'Dietary emulsifiers impact the mouse gut microbiota promoting colitis and metabolic syndrome', *Nature*, vol. 519, no. 7541, pp. 92–96, 2015.
- [59] O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, V. Leelavatcharamas, S. Keawsompong, and S. Nitisinprasert, 'Distinct gut microbiota of healthy children from two different geographic regions of Thailand', *Arch. Microbiol.*, vol. 197, no. 4, pp. 561–573, 2015.
- [60] P. Vi, 'In vitro fermentation models: General introduction', *Impact Food Bioact. Heal. Vitr. Ex Vivo Model.*, pp. 275–279, 2015.
- [61] G. Vrancken, A. C. Gregory, G. R. B. Huys, K. Faust, and J. Raes, 'Synthetic ecology of the human gut microbiota', *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.*, vol. 17, no. 12, pp. 754–763, 2019.
- [62] P. Van Den Abbeele, C. Grootaert, M. Marzorati, S. Possemiers, W. Verstraete, P. Gérard, S. Rabot, A. Bruneau, S. Aidy Ei, M. Derrien, E. Zoetendal, M. Kleerebezem, H. Smidt, and T. Van De Wiele, 'Microbial community development in a dynamic gut model is reproducible, colon region specific, and selective for bacteroidetes and Clostridium cluster IX', *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 76, no. 15, pp. 5237–5246, 2010.
- [63] S. A. Tanner, A. Z. Berner, E. Rigozzi, F. Grattepanche, C. Chassard, and C. Lacroix, 'In vitro continuous fermentation model (PolyFermS) of the swine proximal colon for simultaneous testing on the same gut microbiota', *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 4, e94123, 2014.

- [64] C. C. Hu, L. Y. Liu, and S. S. Yang, 'Protein enrichment, cellulase production and in vitro digestion improvement of pangolagrass with solid state fermentation', J. *Microbiol. Immunol. Infect.*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 7–14, 2012.
- [65] J. T. Lau, F. J. Whelan, I. Herath, C. H. Lee, S. M. Collins, P. Bercik, and M. G. Surette, 'Capturing the diversity of the human gut microbiota through cultureenriched molecular profiling', *Genome Med.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–10, 2016.
- [66] J. M. Flynn, D. Niccum, J. M. Dunitz, and R. C. Hunter, 'Evidence and Role for Bacterial Mucin Degradation in Cystic Fibrosis Airway Disease', *PLoS Pathog.*, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 1–21, 2016.
- [67] S. H. Duncan, W. R. Russell, A. Quartieri, M. Rossi, J. Parkhill, A. W. Walker, and H. J. Flint, 'Wheat bran promotes enrichment within the human colonic microbiota of butyrate-producing bacteria that release ferulic acid', *Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 2214–2225, 2016.
- [68] C. R. Kok, D. F. G. Quintero, C. Niyirora, D. Rose, A. Li, and R. Hutkins, 'An in vitro enrichment strategy for formulating synergistic synbiotics', *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 85, no. 16, pp. 1–15, 2019.
- [69] H. J. Binder, 'Role of Colonic Short-Chain Fatty Acid Transport in Diarrhea', *Annu. Rev. Physiol.*, vol. 72, no. 1, pp. 297–313, 2010.
- [70] R. Takagi, K. Sasaki, D. Sasaki, I. Fukuda, K. Tanaka, K. Yoshida, A. Kondo, and
 R. Osawa, 'A single-batch fermentation system to simulate human colonic microbiota for high-throughput evaluation of prebiotics', *PLoS One*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1–16, 2016.
- [71] E. Harmayani, A. K. Anal, S. Wichienchot, R. Bhat, M. Gardjito, U. Santoso, S. Siripongvutikorn, J. Puripaatanavong, and U. Payyappallimana, 'Healthy food

traditions of Asia: Exploratory case studies from Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, and Nepal', *J. Ethn. Foods*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–18, 2019.

- [72] G.R. Gibson, M.B. Roberfroid, Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. *J.Nutri.* 125, 1401-1412 (1995).
- [73] Louis P., Hold G. L., Flint H. J. (2014). The gut microbiota, bacterial metabolites and colorectal cancer. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 12, 661–672. 10.1038/nrmicro3344
- [74] Fukui, H. 1993. Food and population in a northeast Thai village [1993].University of Hawaii Press, Honolulu. 421pp.
- [75] P. Van Esterik (2010). From Marco Polo to McDonald's: Thai cuisine in transition.Food and Foodways, 5 (2), 177-93.
- [76] Dietary Habits. In: Preedy V.R., Watson R.R. (eds) Handbook of DiseaseBurdens and Quality of Life Measures. Springer, New York, NY. 2010.
- [77] Seubsman S.A., Matthew K., Pataraporn Y., and Sleigh A. (2009). Cultural resistance to fast-food consumption? A study of youth in North Eastern Thailand. *Int J Consum Stud.* 33(6):669-675.
- [78] Walker H.M, Horner R.H, Sugai G, Bullis M., Sprague J.R, Bricker D., Kaufman M.J. (1996). Integrated Approaches to Preventing Antisocial Behavior Patterns among School-Age Children and Youth. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioral Disorders*. 4, 193-256.
- [79] D L Topping, P M Clifton (2001). Short-chain Fatty Acids and Human Colonic Function: Roles of Resistant Starch and Non-starch Polysaccharides. *The American Physiological Society*. 81 (3): 1031 – 1064.
- [80] Henry J. Binder (2010). Role of Colonic Short-Chain Fatty Acid Transport in Diarrhea. Annual Review of Physiology. Vol. 72:297-313.

- [81] United States Department of Agriculture [USDA] (2009). Converging Patterns in Global Food Consumption and Food Delivery Systems. 2008.
- [82] P. Kovatcheva-Datchary, M. Egert, Maathuis A., Rajilić-Stojanović M., A. A. De Graaf, H. Smidt, De Vos W. M., Koen V. (2009) Linking phylogenetic identities of Bacteria to starch fermentation in an in vitro model of the large intestine by RNA based stable isotope probing. *Environ Microbiol*.11(4):914-26.
- [83] Gu Q. and Ping L. Biosynthesis of vitamins by probiotic bacteria. In V. Rao,L.G. Rao (Eds.), Probiotics and Prebiotics in Human Nutrition and Health,InTech, Rijeka (2016) p. Ch. 07.
- [84] Judprasong K., Puwastien P., Rojroongwasinkul N., Nitithamyong A., Sridonpai P., Somjai A., Institute of Nutrition, Mahidol University (2015). Thai Food Composition Database, Online version 2, September 2018, Thailand.
 <u>http://www.inmu.mahidol.ac.th/thaifcd</u>

Chapter 2

Dietary habits changes in Thailand as linked to modern diets

This chapter was published as a part of the original paper (**Kisuse Juma, La-Ongkham, O.; Nakphaichit, M.; Therdtatha, P.; Momoda, R.; Tanaka, M.; Fukuda, S.; Popluechai, S.; Kespechara, K.; Sonomoto, K.; Lee, YK; Nitisinprasert S and Jiro Nakayama, Urban Diets Linked to Gut Microbiome and Metabolome Alterations in Children: A Comparative Cross Sectional Study in Thailand) published in Journal of Frontiers in Microbiology. 9: 1345, 2018.**

2.1. Abstract

Diet is the main external factor influencing the well-being of the host during the relation with gut microbiome. Thai diet, notably in the northeast region called Isan, had characteristically been rich in carbohydrates and vegetables with low in animal fats and proteins. Economic development has made a dramatic shift in lifestyle in Thailand where urbanization comes to play a significant role to establish urban lifestyle including the introduction of urban foods with different nutritional profiles. Our dietary investigation in this study showed that Bangkok children consumed protein-rich foods, much coming from processed meat, and beverages probably containing a high concentration of simple sugar, and Buriram children still mainly consumed rice and vegetables, while both cities had a high frequency of rice consumption, indicating rice to be their primary carbohydrate source. As a result of dietary nutrient estimation, Bangkok children had consumed more fats and sugar, whereas Buriram children had more dietary fibers and beta-carotene. These findings suggest that Bangkok's children's diet has become modernized and westernized while the diet of Buriram children keeps the essence of Thai traditional foods. Hence, compared to Bangkok children, Buriram children are expected to benefit much from their traditional style foods, notably in conjunction with intestinal short-chain fatty acid fermentation.
2.2. Introduction

Thailand is endowed with wealth of agricultural products both in quantity and diversity, which has been supporting health and wellbeing of Thai people from the past to present [1]. Thai diet is traditionally cereal-based and rich in vegetables, which had achieved low calorie and less fat healthy style [2]. Further, research has shown the Thai diet carries great recipes associated with lower rates of carcinogenic mutation [10]. While Thai traditional edible plants eaten as nutrition purposes might contain several of anti-tumor compounds at a high ratio [3].

Following drastic urbanization due to the economic growth in the past halfcentury, diets in Thailand have been largely exchanged by western diets, resulting in a notable rise in fat, sugar, and animal protein content [2]. Therein, the diets transformation is linked to increases in a dietary related disease like heart diseases [4], obesity [5], and diabetes [6] in the Thai community.

Westernization of the Thailand diet is affected by the growth of modern retailing systems such as supermarkets and convenience stores, which control half of the retailing system in Thailand [4]. Likewise, in comparison with other developing countries, in Thailand, there is an increase in expenditure of a country in the western diet food-style by 40% to the year 2005 from 1999 [11]. These reports show that the western diet influences Thai food culture into more processed and energy-dense western diets [4].

It is essential to evaluate the impact of modern diets on Thai by studying the urban (Bangkok) and rural (Buriram) in relation to gastro-intestinal microbiome study in the next chapter. The set of data are provided to identify the extent to which the society has adopted or influenced by urbanization.

2.3. Materials and methods

2.3.1. Study population characteristics

To estimate the number of subjects satisfied a statistical power in this study, we computed the PERMANOVA power based on the variance and difference of fecal microbiome data obtained in our previous study of Thai children. We used the micropower R-package [7] in which the weighted UniFrac distance matrix was simulated based on within-group distance variance (mean and standard deviation) of the data from 26 Bangkok children and therein a range of effect sizes were generated by incorporating a range of group differences. Using the simulated matrices, the PERMANOVA powers were calculated for varying effect sizes (ω 2) and sample sizes. As a result, 10 subjects per group afford 80% power to detect a ω 2 of 0.10, which corresponds to the difference between the Bangkok children and children in Khon Kaen, a rural city in Thailand. Ten subjects per group afford 80% power to detect an ω 2 of 0.05, which corresponds to the effect observed in a controlled-feeding study [8], and 15 subjects per group afford 100% power to detect the same effect size. Accordingly, we aimed more than 15 subjects per group.

We recruited Thai children who were born and raised in Bangkok or Buriram city, and aged 9–11 years. Subjects who were administered antibiotics for 2 weeks prior to sampling or suffered from diarrhoea for 1 month prior to sampling were excluded. Eventually, we used 17 children from Bangkok and 28 children from Buriram for this study. (Table 2.1.)

	Bangkok (n = 17 ^a)	Buriram (n = 28 ^b)	p ^c
Age (y)	10.47 ± 0.72	9.79 ± 0.63	< 0.05
Gender	13/3	12/16	< 0.05
(male/female)			
Height (cm)	145.4 ± 11.1	139.5 ± 7.4	0.11
Weight (kg)	45.6 ± 12.2	34.4 ± 8.0	< 0.05
BMI (kg/m2)	21.3 ± 4.0	17.4 ± 2.9	< 0.05

Table 2.1. Characteristics of participants in Thai study

^a Dietary record were missing from two samples while one sample was missing for gender information. ^b Two samples were missing for two samples and three samples were missing for metabolome analysis. ^c Statistical analysis was carried out by Welch's t-test. Genders statistical analysis was performed by Fisher's exact test [12].

Fresh stool samples were collected from these 45 children and were subjected to the 16S rRNA gene sequencing and metabolome analysis as described below. The parents/guardians reported 1-week dietary records as described below as well as answered a questionnaire that addressed the children's physiological characteristics. Welch's t-test was performed using the Excel t-test function (Microsoft Excel 2016). There were statistical differences in age, gender, weight, and body mass index (BMI) between children in Bangkok and Buriram.

2.3.2. Dietary information recording

Diets of children participating in this study were recorded by children's parents/guardians, using a dietary record form that asked about the menu, ingredients, and quantity of every meal, including breakfast, mid-morning snack, lunch, mid-afternoon snack, dinner, and after-dinner snack for 7 days before stool samples were collected. Using the INMUCAL-Nutrients V3 database NB1 program (Institute of Nutrition, Mahidol University, 2013), recorded foods were categorized and their energy (kcal) and nutrient contents (g, mg, or µg) were estimated. The energy from each food group and its fat portion were calculated per day per person and subjected to Wilcoxon rank-sum test in R ver. 3.3.2 to determine the statistical significance of differences between children in Bangkok and Buriram. Each nutrient group consumed by an individual was also calculated per day and subjected to the Wilcoxon rank-sum test to determine the statistical significance of differences between children in Bangkok and Buriram.

2.4. Results

Based on the 7-day dietary records, we summarized the daily diets of children in Bangkok and Buriram as shown in (Figures 2.1B–D). Buriram children consumed more rice and vegetables, whereas children in Bangkok consumed more bread, meat, and beverages. Notably, consumption of vegetables in Bangkok children was considerably reduced corresponding to 1.0% of total calorie intake, whereas Buriram children consumed them almost every day corresponding to 7.3% of total calorie intake. All of the participating children in both cities consumed rice, particularly steamed rice, almost every day, suggesting that rice was the main carbohydrate source for Thai children. However, its frequency and amount consumed were much greater in Buriram children (10.2 times per week, 207.1 kcal/day) than in Bangkok children (6.3 times per week, 140.8 kcal/day). Furthermore, Buriram children consumed more glutinous rice (101.4 kcal/day), served in the traditional Isan style including rice and spiced fermented fish, than Bangkok children (13.1 kcal/day). On the other hand, Bangkok children consumed more single-dish rice (94.4 kcal/day), such as fried rice (Table 2.2.), than Buriram children (40.3 kcal/day). Total calorie intake was slightly higher in Bangkok children, although the difference between their intake and that of children in Buriram was not statistically significant.

We then estimated quantities of each nutrient consumed in individuals using the food-and-nutrient database in Thailand. A PCA using the log-ratio transformed nutrient matrix data showed a significant difference of dietary habits between children in Bangkok and Buriram (p < 0.001 in PERMANOVA analysis) (figure 2.2.). Indeed, children in Bangkok consumed significantly more fat and sugar and less beta-carotene than children in Buriram (Figures 2.1C, D). The fat consumption ratio among Bangkok children was statistically higher than among Buriram children ($35.9 \pm 5.9\%$ vs. $29.7 \pm$ 5.3%, p = 0.0017 in Student's t-test). The statistical power for this comparison was 0.92 at p = 0.05 in the post hoc analysis, indicating sufficient power of this study to address the difference in the dietary habit between these two groups. The difference in the fat consumption ratio was a result of the higher intake of fried rice, cooked breads, and processed meats by Bangkok children (Table 2.2.) and the difference in the intake of beta-carotene reflects a lower rate of vegetable consumption in Bangkok children than in Buriram children. In summary, dietary habits of participating children in Bangkok were significantly modernized and westernized like consumption of processed food, whereas Buriram children had more traditional Thai dietary habits e.g. consumptions of papaya salads with fermented fish.



Figure 2.1. Sampling cities and diets of participants in this study. (A) Map of Bangkok and Buriram. The map was generated based on Google Maps 2017 (https://www.google.com/maps/). "BK" and "BR" were used as abbreviations. (B)

Average daily dietary intake for participants in the two cities. The contribution of each food group was estimated from the 7-day dietary record reported by participants' parent/guardian and was converted to energy units (kcal) according to databases of food energy and nutrition. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences (p < 0.05) by Wilcoxon rank-sum test. (C) The energy ratio of macronutrients consumed daily in BK and BR children. (D) The nutrients in foods consumed daily showing statistically significant differences between BK and BR children (p < 0.05 by Wilcoxon rank-sum test). The box plots show the smallest and largest values, 25 and 75% quartiles, medians, and outliers [12].



Figure 2.2. PCA of nutrient consumption of Bangkok and Buriram children. Based on 7day food consumption day, consumed amount of each nutrient in individuals was calculated, log-ratio transformed, and applied to the PCA. Significance of difference was tested by PERMANOVA [12].

	Bangkok (BK)	Buriram (BR)	BK vs BR
Rice form consumed	Energy (kcal/day)	Energy (kcal/day)	р
Steamed rice	140.8 ± 77.4	207.1 ± 93.1	1.65.E-02
Rice porridge	24.9 ± 27.3	13.6 ± 28.6	5.41.E-02
Steamed Glutinous rice	13.1 ± 20.7	101.4 ± 115.9	5.13.E-03
Single Dish (Fried Rice)	94.4 ± 89.1	40.5 ± 51.5	6.49.E-02

Table 2.2. Energy ratio consumed by Bangkok and Buriram children

Energy ratio contributed by rice cooked in different forms and consumed daily in Bangkok and Buriram children. The p-value by Wilcoxon rank-sum test [12].

2.5. Discussion

Buriram children more or less retained Isan traditional dietary habits, which include foods low in fat and high in vegetables, whereas Bangkok children consumed more sugar and fat, reflecting the urbanization of their dietary culture. The average total fat intake in Bangkok children corresponded to more than 35% of total energy intake, the upper level recommended for children by the Food and Agriculture Organization. [9] The dietary records in this study indicate that the higher amount of fat intake in Bangkok children depends on cooking style more than raw materials: for example, many fried meals were served to Bangkok children. In summary, dietary habits of participating children in Bangkok was significantly modernized and westernized, whereas Buriram children had more traditional Thai dietary habits.

2.6. References

- [1] E. Harmayani, A. K. Anal, S. Wichienchot, R. Bhat, M. Gardjito, U. Santoso, S. Siripongvutikorn, J. Puripaatanavong, and U. Payyappallimana, 'Healthy food traditions of Asia: Exploratory case studies from Indonesia, Thailand, Malaysia, and Nepal', *J. Ethn. Foods*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–18, 2019.
- [2] V. Kosulwat, 'The nutrition and health transition in Thailand', *Public Health Nutr.*, vol. 5, no. 1a, pp. 183–189, 2002.
- [3] A. Murakami, H. Ohigashi, and K. Koshimizu, 'Possible anti-tumour promoting properties of traditional Thai food items and some of their active constituents.'*Asia Pacific journal of clinical nutrition*, vol. 3, no. 4. pp. 185–191, 1994.
- [4] M. Kelly, C. Banwell, J. Dixon, S.-A. Seubsman, V. Yiengprugsawan, and A. Sleigh, 'Nutrition transition, food retailing and health equity in Thailand.', *Australas. Epidemiol.*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 4–7, 2010.
- [5] W. Aekplakorn, M. C. Hogan, V. Chongsuvivatwong, P. Tatsanavivat, S. Chariyalertsak, A. Boonthum, S. Tiptaradol, and S. S. Lim, 'Trends in obesity and associations with education and Urban or rural residence in Thailand', *Obesity*, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 3113–3121, 2007.
- [6] S. Wibulpolpraset, *Thailand Health Profile*. Bureau of Policy and Strategy, 2008.
- B. J. Kelly, R. Gross, K. Bittinger, S. Sherrill-Mix, J. D. Lewis, R. G. Collman, F. D. Bushman, and H. Li, 'Power and sample-size estimation for microbiome studies using pairwise distances and PERMANOVA', *Bioinformatics*, vol. 31, no. 15, pp. 2461–2468, 2015.

- [8] G. D. Wu, J. Chen, C. Hoffmann, K. Bittinger, Y. Chen, A. Sue, M. Bewtra, D. Knights, W. a Walters, R. Knight, E. Gilroy, K. Gupta, R. Baldassano, L. Nessel, and H. Li, 'NIH Public Access', *Science (80-.).*, vol. 334, no. 6052, pp. 105–108, 2012.
- [9] FAO, Fats and fatty acids in human nutrition. Report of an expert consultation., vol. 91. 2010.
- [10] Kangsadalampai K, Pratheepachitti N. Antimutagenicity of some Thai dishes on urethane induced somatic mutation and recombination in Drosophila melanogaster. Thai J Toxicol. 2008;23(2):135–42.
- [11] United States Department of Agriculture [USDA] (2009). Converging Patterns in Global Food Consumption and Food Delivery Systems. 2008. Available
 at: <u>http://www.ers.usda.gov/AmberWaves/</u>
- [12] J. Kisuse, O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka, S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in Thailand', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2018.

Chapter 3

Study on the link between diet and microbial communities in children in Thailand

This chapter corresponds to a part of the original paper (**Kisuse Juma, La-Ongkham, O.; Nakphaichit, M.; Therdtatha, P.; Momoda, R.; Tanaka, M.; Fukuda, S.; Popluechai, S.; Kespechara, K.; Sonomoto, K.; Lee, YK; Nitisinprasert S and Jiro Nakayama, Urban Diets Linked to Gut Microbiome and Metabolome Alterations in Children: A Comparative Cross Sectional Study in Thailand) published in Journal of Frontiers in Microbiology. 9: 1345, 2018.**

3.1. Abstract

The urbanized foods may have an adverse impact on the balance of their intestinal microbial ecosystem. The observational study was conducted to compare the gut microbiota of urban (n = 17) and rural (n = 28) school-aged children in Thailand in association with their dietary habits. Sequencing of 16S rRNA genes amplified from stool samples showed that children in Bangkok have fewer *Clostridiales* and more *Bacteroidales* and *Selenomonadales* compared to children in Buriram and bacterial diversity is significantly less in Bangkok children than in Buriram children. Moreover, Bangkok children were more highly colonized by family *Porphyromonadaceae* and genera *Bacteroides* and *Bifidobacterium* than Burirum children, which coincides with the contrast between children in Italy and rural Africa. This suggests a niche established in the gut environment of urban children, which may have an impact on their intestinal environment health.

3.2. Introduction

The gastro-intestinal tract (GIT) microbiota plays an important role in the host health while changing its amount and composition under the influence of diet [1]–[3]. The diet abundant in carbohydrates, protein sources, fruits, and vegetables influenced a dominant *Firmicutes* and *Bacteroidetes* [4]. Thailand children harbor two types of enterotypes, namely *Prevotella*-type and *Bacteroides*-type, which differ by the city of residence [5]. The fact that Thai vegetarians and non-vegetarian were mainly colonized by *Prevotella*-type and *Bacteroides*-type suggests that *Prevotella*-type favours plantbased diet [6].

Thai dietary habits are reported to have changed indefinitely from consuming whole grains, fibers, rich foods, low fats to more refined carbohydrates, i.e., sugar, animal proteins, etc. This transition is influenced more by trade liberalization and globalization (Westernization) [7]. These changes lead to over nutrition consumptions accompanied by an increasing prevalence of diet-related diseases like obese, and diabetes for children and adults of Thailand [8], [9]. The metabolic health disorders are also known to be associated with alteration of gut microbiota, both richness and diversity [10]–[13].

The previous chapter has described the existence of a difference in dietary nutritional intake between urban and rural Thailand. The dietary change was comparable to those of children living in Leyte island of Philippines, which associated with gut microbiota alteration toward those of western countries [14].

This chapter aims to study further the effects of westernization of diet by assessing/investigating the gut microbiota of urban (Bangkok) and rural (Buriram) children in association with the difference of their dietary habits [2], [15].

3.3. Material and method

3.3.1. Study population characteristics

All samples used in this chapter were collected from same children as described in 2.3.1.

3.3.2. Stool sample collection for 16S rRNA and processing

Participant's collected fresh fecal samples defecated on the trailing paper into a 76 × 20-mm sterile container with 2 mL of RNAlater (Ambion, Inc., Austin, TX, United States) for microbial genomic extraction. This was collected from the three points to make a total of 0.3 - 0.5g for 16S rRNA gene analysis. The samples were immediately placed on a pre-frozen ice pack in a Styrofoam and transferred to the laboratory within 6 hours. The samples then stored in -20°C freezer until DNA extraction.

3.3.3. DNA extraction

Bacteria DNA was extracted by the bead beating method and purified as previously described [16] with modification in centrifugation speed adjusting the volume of sample and solvents used. In brief, the stool sample was diluted 10-fold with RNAlater and homogenized. Then, 200 μ l of the fecal sample diluents mixed with 1 ml PBS and vortexed. After centrifugation at 20,000 × g for 5 min at 4°C, the supernatant was removed and washed twice with 1 ml of PBS buffer to remove PCR inhibitors including lipids, bile salt, hematin, calcium ions, and urea [29]. The supernatant was discarded, and the pellet was stored at -30° C until use. 300mg of glass beads (diameter, 0.1 mm) (TOMY SEIKO Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan), 300 µl of Tris-SDS solution and 500 µl of TE buffersaturated phenol were added to a thawed sample, and then shaken vigorously using a FastPrep FP120 (Bio 101) at a speed of 5.0 m/sec for 30s. 400µl of phenol/chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1; v/v) was added to 400 µl of supernatant and shaken vigorously by using FastPrep PF120 at a speed of 4.0 m/sec for 45 s. After centrifugation at 20,000 × g for 5 min at 4°C, 250 µl of supernatant mixed with 25 µl of 3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.2). After being kept for 3 min on ice, 300 µl of ice-cold 100% isopropanol was added and centrifuged at 20,000 × g for 5 min at 4°C. The pellet of DNA was washed in 500 µl of ice-cold 70% ethanol and air-dried before suspension in 1 ml of TE buffer (pH 8.0) and stored at -30° C until use.

3.3.4. 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing

The variable region, V1–V2, of the 16S rRNA gene, was amplified from the fecal genomic DNA (1 ng) using TaKaRa Ex Taq HS (Takara Bio, Shiga, Japan) and universal primers, Tru 27F (5'-CGC TCT TCC GAT CTC TGA GRG TTT GAT YMT GGC TCA G-3') and Tru 354R (5'-TGC TCT TCC GAT CTG ACC TGC CTC CCG TAG GAG T-3'). The amplified products were then used as templates for a second PCR for further amplification with barcode-tag primers. The second-PCR products were purified using a QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, United States) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The amplified DNA was quantified using a PicoGreen dsDNA Assay Kit (Life Technologies, Eugene, OR, United States) per the manufacturer's protocol. In a total of 20ng an equal amount of DNA were mixed from

each sample and was then purified by electrophoresis in a 2% (wt/vol) agarose gel, followed by extraction from the gel using a FastGene Gel/PCR Extraction Kit (Nippon Genetics Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). The purified DNA was applied to paired-end sequencing using Illumina MiSeq v3 chemistry (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, United States).

3.3.5. Processing of 16S rRNA gene sequences

The obtained sequences were processed using the Uparse pipeline in Usearch v9.2 [17]. The pairs of raw sequence reads were merged using the fastq merge pairs script with mismatch windows up to 25 bases. High-quality sequences were selected from the merged sequences using the fastq_filter script with an expected error score lower than 1.0. Then PCR chimera-like sequences were removed by employing the Uchime algorithm. The high-quality sequences obtained were clustered using the cluster_otus script, resulting in 663 non-singleton operational taxonomic units (OTUs). The taxonomy of each OUT was assigned using the SINTAX command [18], with RDP training set v16 and a cut-off value of 0.8. The raw merged sequences before quality filtering were mapped to OTUs with identities higher than 0.97, using the usearch_global script, and the number of reads per sample assigned to each OTU counted. Eventually, 11020 ± 3948 reads per sample were assigned. The values of good's coverage for the samples were 99.23 \pm 0.18% (minimum = 98.83%), indicating sufficient sequencing depth for the microbiome investigation in this study.

3.3.6. Statistical analysis for the fecal bacterial community

To test the statistical significance of differences in the fecal bacterial community structure between Bangkok and Buriram children, pairwise weighted UniFrac distance was calculated by using the beta_diversity.py command in QIIME version 1.9.1 [19] and was subjected to PERMANOVA test using the PERMANOVA function in the micropower R-package [20]. The taxonomic composition of each sample was determined, using the summarize_taxa_througy_plots.py command in QIIME version 1.9.1. [19]. The Wilcoxon rank-sum test was conducted to assess the statistical significance of variations in abundance of each bacterial community in Bangkok and Buriram samples. To determine the statistical significance of differences between the five metabolotype groups, a pairwise Wilcoxon rank-sum test was performed in R ver. 3.3.2. To examine the confounding effects of age and gender, we performed the multivariate regression analysis in Stata SE12.0 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX, United States), for the taxonomy composition using age and city, or gender and city as the independent variables.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Composition of gut bacteria community of Bangkok and Buriram children

There were high abundances of *Bacteroidaceae* in Bangkok children while Buriram children had high abundances of *Lachnospiraceae* and *Peptostreptococcaceae* families (Fig. 3.1.A). More than half of over 100 total OTUs found to belong to Class clostridia, especially of *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* families; meanwhile, less than 20 OTUs characterized belongs to the two dominant families, *Prevotellaceae* and *Bacteroidaceae* respectively. Furthermore, Buriram samples showed a significantly higher number of OTUs of the subdominant family, *Peptostreptococcaceae*, than Bangkok samples. (Fig. 3.1.B)



Figure 3.1. (A) Average relative abundance of fecal bacterial composition of Bangkok and Buriram children (B) The average number of taxonomic units annotated to each bacterial family in Bangkok and Buriram children. The asterisk at the right side of the bar indicates the bacterial family that was significantly more abundant in BR children than BK children (p < 0.05, Wilcoxon rank-sum test) [30].

3.4.2. Alpha diversity of gut bacterial community of Bangkok and Buriram children

Total alpha diversity tended to be higher in Buriram samples than in Bangkok samples, as indicated by Chao1 (p = 0.042) and ACE (p = 0.047) species richness estimates. (Figure 3.2)



Figure 3.2. Alpha-diversity indices on fecal microbiota of children in Bangkok and Buriram which were compared by the Wilcoxon rank-sum test. Asterisks indicate p < 0.05 [30].

3.4.3. Difference in gut bacterial community between children in Bangkok and Buriram

The variance of microbial community was profiled by using pairwise weighted UniFrac distances calculated based on the OTU tables of Bangkok and Buriram samples. The weighted UniFrac distances between samples showed no statistically significant differences in the microbial community structures between Bangkok and Buriram children. We further performed PCA using bacterial composition data at the family level. As shown in Fig. 3.3. A., the three enterotype-like variations were observed, although they were not entirely discrete. At the PC1-positive region, it was defined by a high abundance of *Bacteroidaceae* whereas, at the PC1-negative region, it was characterized with a high abundance of *Prevotellaceae* and the third one, localized in the PC2-negative region, as defined by a high abundance of the combination of *Bifidobacteriaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Ruminococcaceae*,

and *Peptostreptococcaceae* (Fig. 3.3.A). Bangkok and Buriram samples appeared to be oriented in PC2-positive and -negative directions, respectively, but there was no apparent connection between the enterotype-like cluster and the cities of residence. (Fig. 3.3.B)



Figure 3.3. Principal component analysis (PCA) of fecal bacterial community profiles (family level) of children in Bangkok and Buriram. (**A**) PCA plot of 17 Bangkok and 28 Buriram children. (**B**) PC1 (upper) and PC2 (lower) sample distributions. The probability value (p) was determined by Wilcoxon rank-sum test [30].

3.4.4. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe) analysis

A LEfSe study was conducted using phylum to genus-level data to identify more specific variations in the fecal bacterial compositions among children in the two towns. As seen in Fig. 3.4.A., children from Bangkok were more highly colonized by *Actinobacteria* classes and *Selenomadales* and *Bacteroidales* orders. In contrast, children from Buriram were more heavily colonized by other taxonomic groups belonging to the order *Clostridiales*, such as families *Peptostreptococcaceae* and unclassified *Ruminococcaceae*. In Fig. 3.4.C, the relative abundance of taxonomic groups showing an LDA score greater than 10³ (taxa indicated by bold letters in Fig. 3.4.C) summed for the Bangkok type (*Negativicutes* + *Bacteroides* + *Porphyromonadaceae* + *Bifidobacterium*) and the Buriram type (*Peptostreptococcaceae* + unclassified *Ruminococcaceae*), and the ratio of the sum of the Buriram type to the sum of the Bangkok type calculated for each child (henceforth, the ratio is called the BR/BK taxa ratio). The BR/BK taxa ratio was significantly different between children in Bangkok and Buriram, as seen in Fig. 3.4.B (p < 0.001 in Wilcoxon rank-sum test). In the post-hoc review, the statistical power for this contrast was 0.88 at p = 0.05, suggesting adequate influence from this sample to investigate the alteration between Bangkok and Buriram children in the gut microbial population.





Figure 3.4. Linear discriminant analysis effect size to identify different abundant taxa between Bangkok and Buriram samples. (A) Cladogram showing different abundant taxa between Bangkok and Buriram (LDA score > 2.0, p < 0.1). (B) Boxplot showing distribution of log-ratio of different abundant taxa (C) Taxonomic groups showing LDA score > 2.0 with p < 0.1 [30].

3.5. Discussion

In our previous study on the gut microbiota in an Asian population, two enterotype-like clusters, one driven by *Prevotella* and the other one driven by *Bacteroides*, were found, and overrepresentation of each enterotype was observed in distinct populations, such as *Prevotella*-type microbiota in Thai vegetarians [6], and in the rural cities of Khon Kaen in Isan region of Thailand [5], and Baybay on Leyte island in the Philippines [14]. These results suggested that low-fat and vegetable-based diets promote the colonization by Prevotella-type microbiota. The Prevotella/Bacteroides trade-off was also found in a study comparing the gut microbiota of children from Burkina Faso consuming a rural African diet rich in dietary fiber and Italian children consuming a modern Western diet [2]. Further, studies have observed recent the Prevotella/Bacteroides trade-off within a country [14], [21], suggesting that the enterotype shift is ongoing in developing countries. Unexpectedly, however, we did not observe the enterotype shift between Bangkok and Buriram children. Preliminary data showed that the enterotypes were not consistent in this Thai cohort across samplings with a 1-month interval, while most Japanese children were consistently colonized by a Bacteroides-type enterotype. This could suggest that the gut microbiota of Thai children is now being influenced by modern diets and are in a state of transition.

Rather than the enterotypes reflected in PC1 of the PCA, the city of residence correlated somewhat with PC2, which mainly reflected the *Firmicutes*-to-*Bacteroidetes* (F/B) ratio. The F/B ratio is known to be positively correlated with high-fat diet-induced obesity [22]–[25]. In this study, however, Bangkok children, who tended to consume a high-fat diet and to be overweight, showed a lower F/B ratio. This agrees with a line of studies suggesting that species, community, or functional level studies are required to

understand the causation between diets and microbiota [26]–[28]. Indeed, some families or genera, such as *Bacteroides*, *Bifidobacterium*, and *Porphyromonadaceae*, are commonly higher in children in Italy [21] as well as children in Bangkok, suggesting a niche established in the gut environment of urban children.

3.6. References

- Y.-K. Lee, 'Effects of Diet on Gut Microbiota Profile and the Implications for Health and Disease', *Biosci. Microbiota, Food Heal.*, vol. 32, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2012.
- [2] C. De Filippo, D. Cavalieri, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, J. B. Poullet, S. Massart,
 S. Collini, G. Pieraccini, and P. Lionetti, 'Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 107, no. 33, pp. 14691–14696, 2010.
- [3] J. Zhang, Z. Guo, A. A. Q. Lim, Y. Zheng, E. Y. Koh, D. Ho, J. Qiao, D. Huo, Q. Hou, W. Huang, L. Wang, C. Javzandulam, C. Narangerel, Jirimutu, Menghebilige, Y.-K. Lee, and H. Zhang, 'Mongolians core gut microbiota and its correlation with seasonal dietary changes.', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 4, p. 5001, 2014.
- [4] O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, V. Leelavatcharamas, S. Keawsompong, and S. Nitisinprasert, 'Distinct gut microbiota of healthy children from two different geographic regions of Thailand', *Arch. Microbiol.*, vol. 197, no. 4, pp. 561–573, 2015.
- [5] J. Nakayama, K. Watanabe, J. Jiang, K. Matsuda, S.-H. Chao, P. Haryono, O. Laongkham, M.-A. Sarwoko, I. N. Sujaya, L. Zhao, K.-T. Chen, Y.-P. Chen, H.-H. Chiu, T. Hidaka, N.-X. Huang, C. Kiyohara, T. Kurakawa, N. Sakamoto, K. Sonomoto, K. Tashiro, H. Tsuji, M.-J. Chen, V. Leelavatcharamas, C.-C. Liao, S. Nitisinprasert, E. S. Rahayu, F.-Z. Ren, Y.-C. Tsai, and Y.-K. Lee, 'Diversity in gut bacterial community of school-age children in Asia', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, p. 8397, 2015.

- [6] S. Ruengsomwong, O. La-Ongkham, J. Jiang, B. Wannissorn, J. Nakayama, and S. Nitisinprasert, 'Microbial community of healthy Thai vegetarians and non-vegetarians, their core gut microbiota and pathogens risk.', *J. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, vol. 26, no. 10, pp. 1723–1735, 2016.
- [7] V. Kosulwat, 'The nutrition and health transition in Thailand', *Public Health Nutr.*, vol. 5, no. 1a, pp. 183–189, 2002.
- [8] V. Chavasit, V. Kasemsup, and K. Tontisirin, 'Thailand conquered under-nutrition very successfully but has not slowed obesity', *Obes. Rev.*, vol. 14, no. S2, pp. 96– 105, 2013.
- [9] W. Aekplakorn, R. Inthawong, P. Kessomboon, R. Sangthong, S. Chariyalertsak, P. Putwatana, and S. Taneepanichskul, 'Prevalence and trends of obesity and association with socioeconomic status in Thai adults: National health examination surveys, 1991-2009', *J. Obes.*, vol. 2014, 2014.
- [10] P. D. Cani, S. Possemiers, T. Van De Wiele, Y. Guiot, A. Everard, O. Rottier, L. Geurts, D. Naslain, A. Neyrinck, D. M. Lambert, G. G. Muccioli, and N. M. Delzenne, 'Changes in gut microbiota control inflammation in obese mice through a mechanism involving GLP-2-driven improvement of gut permeability', *Gut*, vol. 58, no. 8, pp. 1091–1103, 2009.
- [11] P. J. Turnbaugh, M. Hamady, T. Yatsunenko, B. L. Cantarel, A. Duncan, R. E. Ley,M. L. Sogin, W. J. Jones, B. A. Roe, J. P. Affourtit, M. Egholm, B. Henrissat, A. C.

Heath, R. Knight, and J. I. Gordon, 'A core gut microbiome in obese and lean twins', *Nature*, vol. 457, no. 7228, pp. 480–484, 2009.

- [12] M. J. Claesson, I. B. Jeffery, S. Conde, S. E. Power, E. M. O'Connor, S. Cusack, H. M. Harris, M. Coakley, B. Lakshminarayanan, O. O'Sullivan, G. F. Fitzgerald, J. Deane, M. O'Connor, N. Harnedy, K. O'Connor, D. O'Mahony, D. van Sinderen, M. Wallace, L. Brennan, C. Stanton, J. R. Marchesi, A. P. Fitzgerald, F. Shanahan, C. Hill, R. P. Ross, and P. W. O'Toole, 'Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly', *Nature*, vol. 488, no. 7410, pp. 178–184, 2012.
- [13] E. Le Chatelier, T. Nielsen, J. Qin, E. Prifti, F. Hildebrand, G. Falony, M. Almeida, M. Arumugam, J. M. Batto, S. Kennedy, P. Leonard, J. Li, K. Burgdorf, N. Grarup, T. Jorgensen, I. Brandslund, H. B. Nielsen, A. S. Juncker, M. Bertalan, F. Levenez, N. Pons, S. Rasmussen, S. Sunagawa, J. Tap, S. Tims, E. G. Zoetendal, S. Brunak, K. Clement, J. Dore, M. Kleerebezem, K. Kristiansen, P. Renault, T. Sicheritz-Ponten, W. M. de Vos, J. D. Zucker, J. Raes, T. Hansen, P. Bork, J. Wang, S. D. Ehrlich, and O. Pedersen, 'Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers', *Nature*, vol. 500, no. 7464, 2013.
- [14] J. Nakayama, A. Yamamoto, L. A. Palermo-Conde, K. Higashi, K. Sonomoto, J. Tan, and Y. K. Lee, 'Impact of westernized diet on gut microbiota in children on Leyte island', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, pp. 1–18, 2017.
- [15] S. L. Schnorr, M. Candela, S. Rampelli, M. Centanni, C. Consolandi, G. Basaglia,S. Turroni, E. Biagi, C. Peano, M. Severgnini, J. Fiori, R. Gotti, G. De Bellis, D.

Luiselli, P. Brigidi, A. Mabulla, F. Marlowe, A. G. Henry, and A. N. Crittenden, 'Gut microbiome of the Hadza hunter-gatherers', *Nat. Commun.*, vol. 5:3654, 2014.

- [16] T. Matsuki, K. Watanabe, J. Fujimoto, and T. Takada, 'Use of 16S rRNA Gene-Targeted Group-Specific Primers for Real-Time PCR Analysis of Predominant Bacteria in Human Feces Use of 16S rRNA Gene-Targeted Group-Specific Primers for Real-Time PCR Analysis of Predominant Bacteria in Human Feces', *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 70, no. 12, pp. 7220–7228, 2004.
- [17] R. C. Edgar, 'UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads.', *Nat. Methods*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 996–8, 2013.
- [18] R. Edgar, 'SINTAX: a simple non-Bayesian taxonomy classifier for 16S and ITS sequences', *bioRxiv*, p. 074161, 2016.
- [19] Justin Kuczynski, Jesse Stombaugh, William Anton Walters, Antonio Gonzalez, Gregory Caporaso, Rob Knight. 'Using QIIME to analyze 16S rRNA gene sequences from Microbial Communities', *Curr Protoc Bioinforma.*, pp. 1–28, 2012.
- [20] B. J. Kelly, R. Gross, K. Bittinger, S. Sherrill-Mix, J. D. Lewis, R. G. Collman, F. D. Bushman, and H. Li, 'Power and sample-size estimation for microbiome studies using pairwise distances and PERMANOVA', *Bioinformatics*, vol. 31, no. 15, pp. 2461–2468, 2015.
- [21] C. De Filippo, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, D. Albanese, G. Pieraccini, E. Banci,F. Miglietta, D. Cavalieri, and P. Lionetti, 'Diet, environments, and gut microbiota.

A preliminary investigation in children living in rural and Urban Burkina Faso and Italy', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, pp. 1–14, 2017.

- [22] P. J. Turnbaugh, 'Report This Comment Report This Comment Report This Comment', New Sci., vol. 457, pp. 10–12, 2008.
- [23] P. J. Turnbaugh, M. Hamady, T. Yatsunenko, B. L. Cantarel, R. E. Ley, M. L. Sogin, W. J. Jones, B. a Roe, P. Jason, M. Egholm, B. Henrissat, A. C. Heath, R. Knight, J. I. Gordon, F. E. Rey, M. J. Manary, I. Trehan, M. G. Dominguez-Bello, M. Contreras, M. Magris, G. Hidalgo, R. N. Baldassano, A. P. Anokhin, A. C. Heath, B. Warner, J. Reeder, J. Kuczynski, J. G. Caporaso, C. a. Lozupone, C. Lauber, J. C. Clemente, D. Knights, R. Knight, and J. I. Gordon, 'Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography', *Nature*, vol. 457, no. 740, pp. 222–227, 2009.
- M. A. Hildebrandt, C. Hoffmann, S. A. Sherrill-Mix, S. A. Keilbaugh, M. Hamady,
 Y. Y. Chen, R. Knight, R. S. Ahima, F. Bushman, and G. D. Wu, 'High-Fat Diet
 Determines the Composition of the Murine Gut Microbiome Independently of
 Obesity', *Gastroenterology*, vol. 137, no. 5, pp. 1716–1724.e2, 2009.
- [25] C. Zhang, M. Zhang, X. Pang, Y. Zhao, L. Wang, and L. Zhao, 'Structural resilience of the gut microbiota in adult mice under high-fat dietary perturbations', *ISME J.*, vol. 6, no. 10, pp. 1848–1857, 2012.
- [26] S. H. Duncan, G. E. Lobley, G. Holtrop, J. Ince, A. M. Johnstone, P. Louis, and H. J. Flint, 'Human colonic microbiota associated with diet, obesity and weight loss', *Int. J. Obes.*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 1720–1724, 2008.

- [27] A. Schwiertz, D. Taras, K. Schäfer, S. Beijer, N. A. Bos, C. Donus, and P. D. Hardt,
 'Microbiota and SCFA in lean and overweight healthy subjects', *Obesity*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 190–195, 2010.
- [28] H. Daniel, A. M. Gholami, D. Berry, C. Desmarchelier, H. Hahne, G. Loh, S. Mondot, P. Lepage, M. Rothballer, A. Walker, C. Böhm, M. Wenning, M. Wagner, M. Blaut, P. Schmitt-Kopplin, B. Kuster, D. Haller, and T. Clavel, 'High-fat diet alters gut microbiota physiology in mice', *ISME J.*, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 295–308, 2014.
- [29] Qingqing Hu, Yuxuan Liu, Shaohua Yi, Daixin Huang, A comparison of four methods for PCR inhibitor removal, *Forensic Sci Int Genet*. 16:94-97, 2015.
- [30] J. Kisuse, O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka,

S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in Thailand', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2018.

Chapter 4

Metabolomic alteration of gut microbiota of Thai children in association with loss of traditional diets

This chapter correspond to a part of the original paper (**Kisuse Juma, La-Ongkham, O.; Nakphaichit, M.; Therdtatha, P.; Momoda, R.; Tanaka, M.; Fukuda, S.; Popluechai, S.; Kespechara, K.; Sonomoto, K.; Lee, YK; Nitisinprasert S and Jiro Nakayama, Urban Diets Linked to Gut Microbiome and Metabolome Alterations in Children: A Comparative Cross Sectional Study in Thailand) published in Journal of Frontiers in Microbiology. 9: 1345, 2018.**

4.1. Abstract

Food globalization has altered the Thai dietary style, which is supposed to affect their gut microbial ecosystem. In this chapter, to address this point, the fecal metabolites were profiled by using fecal samples of school-age children living in an urban city, Bangkok (n = 17), and rural city, Buriram (n = 28), in Thailand. Both butyrate and propionate were more abundant in Buriram children than in Bangkok children. The clustering yielded five metabolotypes (MTs), each characterized by high concentrations of short and middle chain fatty acids (MT1, n = 17), amino acids (MT2, n = 7), arginine (MT3, n = 6), low level of metabolites (MT4, n = 4), and amino acids and amines (MT5, n = 8).MT1 and MT4 consisted mainly of samples from Buriram, and MT2 and MT3 consisted mainly of samples from Bangkok, while MT5 contained three samples from Bangkok and five samples from Buriram. MT1 and MT2 were accompanied by the typical microbiome and diet consumption of Buriram and Bangkok children, respectively. Predicted metagenomics using the 16S rRNA profiles revealed an under-representation of eight genes involved in butyrate biosynthesis pathways in MT2, including both glutamate and pyruvate pathways. Taken together, this study shows the benefit of highvegetable Thai traditional diets on gut microbiota and suggests that high-fat and lessvegetable urban dietary habits alter gut microbial communities in Thai children, which resulted in the reduction of colonic short-chain fatty acid fermentation.

4.2. Introduction

As the end product of dietary metabolism, a variety of fecal metabolites are produced by the gut microbial community, therein short-chain fatty acids (SCFA) being major metabolites which play crucial roles in health and diseases of human being [1]–[7].

Diets shape the functional activity of the gut microbiota and thereafter profile of the fecal metabolome provides an insight of the health of individuals. [8] There is growing concern over urbanization that causes changes in the dietary richness of Thailand, which are supposed to alter the composition and activity of gut microbial community, resulting in the loss of production of potentially beneficial metabolites. Increase consumptions of fats, proteins, and refined sugars may halt the goodness of the Thai traditional diet [8], [9].

The aim of this chapter is to compare fecal metabolite composition between rural and urban areas in Thailand and to address any potential variations that may occur in relation to change of health status as well as dietary urbanization in Thai children.

4.3. Material and method

4.3.1. Study population characteristics

All samples used in this chapter were collected from same children as described in 2.3.1

4.3.2. Stool sample collection and processing for metabolome analysis

All participants collected samples for metabolome analysis from fresh defecated feces on the trailing paper of about one big spatula (> 1g) into 55 X 44 mm, Sarstedt. The samples were immediately placed on a pre-frozen ice pack in a Styrofoam and transferred to the laboratory within 6 hours. It was then transferred to -80°C freezer and lyophilized and then stored back to -80°C freezer until metabolite extraction.

4.3.3. Capillary electrophoresis time of flight mass spectrometry (CE-TOF MS) measurement

The author analyzed stool metabolites as previously described [10], [11]. Briefly, fecal metabolites were extracted by vigorous shaking with methanol containing 20 μ M each of methionine sulfone, D-camphol-10-sulfonic acid, and 2-(*N*-morpholino) ethane-sulfonic acid as the internal standards, and were then cleaned by chloroform and water extraction and ultrafiltration using Ultra free-MC (UFC3 LCC NB, 5,000 NMWL, black label). The purified fractions were analyzed using a CE-TOF MS system consisting of an Agilent CE capillary electrophoresis system (Agilent Technology, Palo Alto, CA,
United States), Agilent G32500AA LC/MSD TOF system (Agilent Technologies), Agilent 1100 series binary high-performance liquid chromatography pump, G1603A Agilent CE-MS adapter, and G1607A Agilent CE-ESI-MS sprayer kit. The metabolites were quantified for the study using a standard curve derived from standard samples. Concentrations below the detection limit were substituted with zero, and metabolites whose levels were below the detection limit in all of the samples were excluded.

Pearson's association between samples was determined using composition of the whole metabolite and subjected to hierarchical clustering. In order to find metabolites abundant or depleted in a specific metabolotype group, the concentration of each metabolite underwent a Wilcoxon rank-sum test between one group and all other groups combined. A pairwise Wilcoxon rank-sum test with or without Bonferroni adjustment in R v. 3.3.2 was performed to determine the statistical significance differences in the amounts of certain metabolites in the metabolotype groups. Pearson's correlation between each metabolite and the bacterial abundance was then determined by Pearson's correlation coefficient test in Stata SE12. To examine the confounding effects of age and gender, the author conducted a multivariate regression analysis in Stata SE12 using butyrate or propionate concentrations as dependent variables and age and city or gender and city as independent variables.

4.3.4. Linear discriminant analysis effect size (LEfSe)

The LEfSe [12] was calculated using the online version of Galaxy (http://huttenhower.sph.harvard.edu/galaxy/root, version 1.0.0). For OTUs with an average abundance in all samples that was greater than 0.1%, abundances were

normalized to the sum of the values per sample in 1 million and then subjected to linear discriminant analysis (LDA). The LDA was performed using a one-against-all strategy, and OTUs showing a score higher than 2.0 were selected.

4.4. Results

4.4.1. Fecal SCFAs in Bangkok and Buriram children

The fecal metabolic analysis were quantified using a CE-TOFMS and found that butyrate and propionate concentrations differed significantly between children in both cities (Figure 4.1.). In addition, butyrate concentrations were positively correlated with BR/BK taxa ratios of sufficient statistical significance and power (Figure 4.2.). The findings revealed that the city of residence was strongly correlated with both the butyrate level and the propionate level even after the adjustment, indicating that there was no confounding impact on age and gender in the SCFA level study.



Figure 4.1. Comparison of the concentrations of fecal SCFAs between children in Bangkok and Buriram. P-value by Wilcoxon sum-rank test.



Figure 4.2. A correlation between SCFA and ratio of bacterial composition of the city of residence. All the probability value (*p*) was calculated by Wilcoxon rank-sum test [27].

4.4.2. Metabolotypes found in the fecal metabolite profiles of children in Bangkok and Buriram

Using fecal metabolome data, a cluster analysis was performed and resulted in five (5) clusters (Figure 4.3. A.). Metabolites characterizing fecal metabolotypes were selected, and their abundances are shown in a heat map (Figure 4.3.A.) and box plots (Figure 4.3. B.). Notably, these clusters were characterized by high abundance of SCFAs in metabolotype-1 (MT1), amino acids in metabolotype-2 (MT2), arginine in metabolotype-3 (MT3), and amines in metabolotype-5 (MT5), whereas metabolotype-4 (MT4) totally lacked in metabolites.



Figure 4.3. Five metabolotypes based on the measurement of 214 metabolites in stool samples from children in Bangkok and Buriram. Metabolites characterizing fecal metabolotypes were selected, and their abundances are shown in a heat map (**A**) and box plots (**B**). (**A**). A hierarchical clustering dendrogram was generated based on Pearson's correlation determined based on the abundance of whole metabolites. Samples coloured by subjects' city of residence and clusters coloured by metabolotype were shown between the dendrogram and heat map. The abundance of each metabolite was converted to a *Z*-score across all samples and displayed in the heat map according to the above colour key [27].



Figure 4.3. B. Single and double asterisks indicate p < 0.1 and p < 0.05, respectively, in a pairwise Wilcoxon rank-sum test with Bonferroni adjustment. "Biogenic amines" represent the sum of beta-alanine, dopamine, gamma-aminobutyric acid, histamine, phenethylamine, putrescine, and tyramine. "Amino acids" represent the sum of 20 standard proteinogenic amino acids [27].

4.4.3. The bacterial compositions of these five metabolotype groups were compared by LEfSe analysis

Except for one sample from a child in Bangkok, all the MT1 samples were derived from Buriram children. MT1 samples contained middle chain fatty acids (MCFAs) such as capric and caproic acids, in addition to two SCFAs measured. The microbiota of MT1 samples was characterized by a high BR/BK taxa ratio and high alpha diversity (Figures 4.4. B and C), as observed in Buriram children. On the other hand, MT2 samples were characterized by high concentrations of proteinogenic amino acids (Figure 4.3. A). All of the MT2 samples were derived from Bangkok children and showed a low BR/BK taxa ratio (Figure 4.4. B). MT3 was also mainly derived from Bangkok children. The bacterial composition of this group was characterized by a high abundance of *Parabacteroides*, whereas the BR/BK taxa ratio was intermediate between those of MT1 and MT2. Taken together, MT1 represents the high-SCFA-producing microbiota of Bangkok children.

MT4 was characterized by the overall low level of fecal metabolites. This group comprised three samples from Buriram and one from Bangkok. The microbiota of MT4 was characterized by a high abundance of *Fusobacterium* and *Desulfovibrionaceae* and low alpha diversity (Figure 4.4. C).

MT5 comprised five Buriram and three Bangkok samples. This type was characterized by high concentrations of choline, betaine, and carnitine, which are generally abundant in red meat and dairy products, and a series of biogenic amines such as gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and putrescine. A number of previous studies have shown that these meat-derived amines are converted to trimethylamine by gut bacteria and further metabolized by a liver enzyme to trimethylamine N-oxide, which is associated with metabolic syndrome, fatty liver disease, and cancer [13]. In the stool samples from Thai children, trimethylamine concentrations were positively correlated with amine levels and were significantly more abundant in participants in the MT5 group. The microbiota associated with MT5 samples was characterized by a high abundance of the genera *Haemophilus* and *Sutterella* (Figure 4.4. A) and low alpha diversity (Figure 4.4. C).



Figure 4.4. Fecal microbiota of five metabolotype groups. (**A**) Taxa overrepresented in each metabolotype group. Taxa with linear discriminant analysis scores >2.0 with p < 0.05 are shown. p, phylum; c, class; o, order; f, family; g, genus. (**B**) The BR/BK taxa ratio in each metabolotype group. (**C**) Chao1 index scores in each metabolotype group. Asterisks indicate p < 0.05 in a pairwise Wilcoxon rank-sum test without Bonferroni adjustment [27].

4.4.4. Predicted metagenomics for metabolotypes

Genes and their functions encoded by the fecal bacterial community were quantitatively predicted by PICRUSt based on 16S rRNA gene profiles. The abundance of each KEGG pathway group was compared among the metabolotypes. As a result, KEGG pathways involved in "metabolism" and some other subcategories shown to be overrepresented in the MT2 group compared with other groups, particularly MT1. Therefore, we compared the abundances of all KEGG annotated genes between groups MT1 and MT2, and genes overrepresented in the MT1 group were mapped in the KEGG pathway. The results showed that MT1 was enriched in genes involved in the metabolism of plant-related compounds, such as flavonoid, carotenoid, and limonene.

MT2 was enriched in nitrogen metabolism, including amino acid metabolism, as well as lipid and energy metabolism, whereas MT1 was enriched in ketone body metabolism and phosphotransferase system as well as butanoate metabolism. Notably, 8 genes were overrepresented in butyrate biosynthesis pathways in MT1, including paths from glutamate as well as pyruvate (Figure 4.5.). Those genes involved in the paths from glutamate are mainly encoded by bacteria in the genus *Romboutsia*, family *Peptostreptococcaceae*, whereas those in the paths from pyruvate are encoded by various genera, although *Romboutsia* is one of the significant contributors. Further, 19 genes involved in the phosphotransferase system, including cellobiose phosphotransferase, were overrepresented in MT1, suggesting that higher capacity of MT1 microbiome to ferment a variety of sugars. There was no statistical difference in the total abundance of propanoate metabolism between MT1 and MT2. However, 8 genes, including propionate CoA-transferase [EC: 2.8.3.1] gene, were statistically enriched in the pathway of propanoate metabolism of the MT1 group.



Figure 4.5. Predicted abundance of genes involved in the butyrate biosynthetic pathway. Abundances of genes were predicted by PICRUSt and are shown beside the arrow in each path represented by the EC number. Pie charts represent the contribution of bacteria genera to each path. Red arrows and letters indicate paths significantly overrepresented in Buriram samples [27].

4.4.5 Link of dietary nutrients to gut microbiome and metabolome

We examined the correlation between dietary nutrients and gut microbiome in Thai children. As a result, fat intake level showed a significant negative correlation with the BR/BK taxa ratio as shown in Figure 4.6.A. (R2 = 0.16, p = 0.014 by Pearson's correlation analysis, and Power = 0.85 in post hoc analysis), suggesting the significant impact of high level fat consumption on the gut microbiota. Furthermore, we examined the association between dietary nutrient and fecal metabolotypes (Figure 4.6.B.). Among the macronutrients, only fat consumption showed a significant association with metabolotypes. In addition, beta-carotene intake level significantly differed among the metabolotypes groups. Children in MT2 group consumed more fat and much less beta-carotene than those in other metabolotype groups, especially MT1. Altogether, the differences in dietary habits and gut environment between two cities were reflected to the two metabolotypes, MT1 and MT2.



Figure 4.6. A. Correlation of fat intake level with BR/BK taxa ratio. Pearson's correlation analysis was performed between fat intake level and the BR/BK taxa ratio and a significant correlation (p < 0.05) was obtained [27].



Figure 4.6.B. Levels of nutrients consumed by children in each metabolotype group. (A) Carbohydrates, (B) fats, (C) proteins, (D) beta-carotene. Double and single asterisks indicate p < 0.05 in pairwise Wilcoxon rank-sum tests with and without Bonferroni adjustment, respectively [27].

4.5. Discussion

Several studies have demonstrated that plant-based diets promote colonic fermentation of SCFAs and have a profound effect on host health [14]–[16]. A line of African children gut microbiota studies have commonly indicated the high level of the series of SCFAs [17], [18]. Although acetate was not measurable in our CE-TOF-MS system, the rural children in Thailand also showed a higher level of propionate and butyrate than Bangkok children. The line of studies on Africans and Asians demonstrated that their rural microbiomes have a higher capacity to accept a variety of sugars, including overrepresentations of phosphotransferase genes and carbohydrate-active enzyme genes [19]. These results suggested that the human gut microbiome primarily evolved to utilize a wide range of carbon sources and was then narrowed down under the excessive intakes of simple sugars.

The cluster analysis based on the top-down metabolomics data generated MT1 representative of Buriram metabolome. Samples in the MT1 group were characterized by higher concentrations of SCFAs and higher alpha diversity. It is interesting that the MT1 samples also showed higher concentrations of MCFAs. Microbial production of MCFAs is not common in the human gastrointestinal tract. They may be because of the consumption of coconut milk or palm oil, which are common ingredients in Thai food. However, we could not find any correlation between MCFAs in stool samples and the dietary records of MT1 children.

MT2, characterized by a high abundance of amino acids and low level of SCFAs, showed a lower BR/BK taxa ratio representative of the microbiota in Bangkok children. The dietary habits of MT2 children were characterized by high-fat and remarkably low-vegetable consumption. Although there is no direct evidence, this

74

suggests that their urbanized dietary habit altered the gut microbial communities of Bangkok children and reduced the microbial production of SCFAs. Whereas, SCFAs in the intestine benefit the host, the overrepresentation of amino acids in the gut has been found to associated with gut dysbiosis in patients with Crohn's disease (CD) [20]. This paper reported a 15N flux study in mice that showed bacterial urease releases ammonia by hydrolysis of host urea and allows the transfer of host-derived nitrogen to the gut microbiota as a source of amino acid biosynthesis.

Interestingly, the predicted metagenomics showed that *Peptostreptococcaceae*, which was overrepresented in Buriram children, was involved in the biosynthesis pathway from glutamate to butyrate. Although *Peptostreptococcaceae* is not a common butyrate producer such as *Faecalibacterium* or *Roseburia* [21], some reports are showing that this taxonomic group can produce SCFAs from amino acids [22], [23]. The path from amino acids to butyrate may play an essential role in maximizing SCFA production from limited carbon sources in the colon.

MT4, characterized by the overall low level of fecal metabolites, had a high abundance of Fusobacterium and *Desulfovibrionaceae*, which are known to be overrepresented in patients with colon cancer and ulcerative colitis and to be involved in inflammation [24], [25]. Notably, the BMIs of these MT4 subjects were lower than those of the other groups, except for those in the MT1 group, which might be related to their unusual gut microbiota and environments. On the other hand, MT5 was characterized as rich in metabolites, especially amines and amino acids.

Interestingly, the CD patients in the paper, as mentioned earlier, were also abundant in fecal amines, similar to patients with inflammatory bowel disease reported

75

elsewhere [20], [26]. Furthermore, a high abundance of Haemophilus belonging to potentially pathogenic bacteria in MT5 subjects was also common in CD patients [20].

Although numerous studies have shown, in terms of physiology as well as toxicology, the diverse activity of biogenic amines, those in the intestine should be further investigated. It should be noted that the same contrast in fecal amino acids and biogenic amines was observed in Italians and Hadza hunter-gatherers [16], suggesting that dysbiosis-like metabolomic changes are a sign of stress in gut microbial communities under the urbanization of diets.

4.6. References

- [1] P. V. Chang, L. Hao, S. Offermanns, and R. Medzhitov, 'The microbial metabolite butyrate regulates intestinal macrophage function via histone deacetylase inhibition', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 111, no. 6, pp. 2247–2252, 2014.
- [2] P. Louis and H. J. Flint, 'Formation of propionate and butyrate by the human colonic microbiota', *Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 29–41, 2017.
- [3] A. S. Husted, M. Trauelsen, O. Rudenko, S. A. Hjorth, and T. W. Schwartz, 'GPCR-Mediated Signaling of Metabolites', *Cell Metab.*, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 777–796, 2017.
- S. C. James, K. Fraser, W. Young, W. C. McNabb, and N. C. Roy, 'Gut Microbial Metabolites and Biochemical Pathways Involved in Irritable Bowel Syndrome: Effects of Diet and Nutrition on the Microbiome'. J. Nutr., 150(5):1012-1021, 2019.
- [5] S. Lin, Z. Wang, K. L. Lam, S. Zeng, B. K. Tan, and J. Hu, 'Role of intestinal microecology in the regulation of energy metabolism by dietary polyphenols and their metabolites', *Food Nutr. Res.*, vol. 63, pp. 1–12, 2019.
- [6] M. Schoeler and R. Caesar, 'Dietary lipids, gut microbiota and lipid metabolism', *Rev. Endocr. Metab. Disord.*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 461–472, 2019.
- P. Tu, X. Bian, L. Chi, J. Xue, B. Gao, Y. Lai, H. Ru, and K. Lu, 'Metabolite Profiling of the Gut Microbiome in Mice with Dietary Administration of Black Raspberries', *ACS Omega*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 1318–1325, 2020.
- [8] H. M. Roager and L. O. Dragsted, 'Diet-derived microbial metabolites in health and disease', *Nutr. Bull.*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 216–227, 2019.
- [9] B. Khakimov, S. K. Poulsen, F. Savorani, E. Acar, G. Gürdeniz, T. M. Larsen, A. Astrup, L. O. Dragsted, and S. B. Engelsen, 'New nordic diet versus average Danish

diet: A randomized controlled trial revealed healthy long-term effects of the new nordic diet by GC-MS blood plasma metabolomics', *J. Proteome Res.*, vol. 15, no. 6, pp. 1939–1954, 2016.

- [10] T. Soga, Y. Ohashi, Y. Ueno, H. Naraoka, M. Tomita, and T. Nishioka, 'Quantitative Metabolome Analysis Using Capillary Electrophoresis Mass Spectrometry', *J. Proteome Res.*, vol. 2, no. 5, pp. 488–494, 2003.
- [11] E. Mishima, S. Fukuda, C. Mukawa, A. Yuri, Y. Kanemitsu, Y. Matsumoto, Y. Akiyama, N. N. Fukuda, H. Tsukamoto, K. Asaji, H. Shima, K. Kikuchi, C. Suzuki, T. Suzuki, Y. Tomioka, T. Soga, S. Ito, and T. Abe, 'Evaluation of the impact of gut microbiota on uremic solute accumulation by a CE-TOFMS-based metabolomics approach', *Kidney Int.*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 634–645, 2017.
- [12] N. Segata, J. Izard, L. Waldron, D. Gevers, L. Miropolsky, W. S. Garrett, and C. Huttenhower, 'Metagenomic biomarker discovery and explanation'. *Genome Bio.*, 12-6-R60,2011.
- [13] E. J. Velazquez, K. L. Lee, R. H. Jones, H. R. Al-Khalidi, J. A. Hill, J. A. Panza, R.
 E. Michler, R. O. Bonow, T. Doenst, M. C. Petrie, J. K. Oh, L. She, V. L. Moore,
 P. Desvigne-Nickens, G. Sopko, and J. L. Rouleau, 'Coronary-artery bypass surgery in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy', *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 374, no. 16, pp. 1511–1520, 2016.
- [14] L. A. David, C. F. Maurice, R. N. Carmody, D. B. Gootenberg, J. E. Button, B. E. Wolfe, A. V Ling, A. S. Devlin, Y. Varma, M. A. Fischbach, S. B. Biddinger, R. J. Dutton, and P. J. Turnbaugh, 'Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome', *Nature*, vol. 505, no. 7484, pp. 559–563, 2014.

- [15] H. L. Simpson and B. J. Campbell, 'Review article: Dietary fibre-microbiota interactions', *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 158–179, 2015.
- [16] S. Turroni, J. Fiori, S. Rampelli, S. L. Schnorr, C. Consolandi, M. Barone, E. Biagi,
 F. Fanelli, M. Mezzullo, A. N. Crittenden, A. G. Henry, P. Brigidi, and M. Candela,
 'Fecal metabolome of the Hadza hunter-gatherers: A host-microbiome integrative view', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 6, pp. 1–9, 2016.
- [17] C. De Filippo, D. Cavalieri, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, J. B. Poullet, S. Massart,
 S. Collini, G. Pieraccini, and P. Lionetti, 'Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 107, no. 33, pp. 14691–14696, 2010.
- [18] C. De Filippo, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, D. Albanese, G. Pieraccini, E. Banci,
 F. Miglietta, D. Cavalieri, and P. Lionetti, 'Diet, environments, and gut microbiota.
 A preliminary investigation in children living in rural and Urban Burkina Faso and
 Italy', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, pp. 1–14, 2017.
- [19] S. Rampelli, S. L. Schnorr, C. Consolandi, S. Turroni, M. Severgnini, C. Peano, P. Brigidi, A. N. Crittenden, A. G. Henry, and M. Candela, 'Metagenome Sequencing of the Hadza Hunter-Gatherer Gut Microbiota', *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 25, no. 13, pp. 1682–1693, 2015.
- [20] J. Ni, T. C. D. Shen, E. Z. Chen, K. Bittinger, A. Bailey, M. Roggiani, A. Sirota-Madi, E. S. Friedman, L. Chau, A. Lin, I. Nissim, J. Scott, A. Lauder, C. Hoffmann, G. Rivas, L. Albenberg, R. N. Baldassano, J. Braun, R. J. Xavier, C. B. Clish, M. Yudkoff, H. Li, M. Goulian, F. D. Bushman, J. D. Lewis, and G. D. Wu, 'A role for bacterial urease in gut dysbiosis and Crohn's disease', *Sci. Transl. Med.*, vol. 9 (416):eaah6888 2017.

- [21] P. Louis and H. J. Flint, 'Diversity, metabolism and microbial ecology of butyrate-producing bacteria from the human large intestine', *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, vol. 294, no. 1, pp. 1–8, 2009.
- [22] G. Chen and J. B. Russell, 'Fermentation of peptides and amino acids by a monensin-sensitive ruminal peptostreptococcus', *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2742–2749, 1988.
- [23] M. J. Wilson, V. Hall, J. Brazier, and M. A. O. Lewis, 'Evaluation of a phenotypic scheme for the identification of "butyrate-producing" Peptostreptococcus species', *J. Med. Microbiol.*, vol. 49, no. 8, pp. 747–751, 2000.
- [24] S. N. Ohkusa T, Okayasu I, Ogihara T, Morita K, Ogawa M, 'Fusobacterium varium', *Inflamm. bowel Dis.*, pp. 79–83, 2003.
- [25] V. R. Figliuolo, L. M. dos Santos, A. Abalo, H. Nanini, A. Santos, N. M. Brittes, C. Bernardazzi, H. S. P. de Souza, L. Q. Vieira, R. Coutinho-Silva, and C. M. L. M. Coutinho, 'Sulfate-reducing bacteria stimulate gut immune responses and contribute to inflammation in experimental colitis', *Life Sci.*, vol. 189, pp. 29–38, 2017.
- [26] M. L. Santoru, C. Piras, A. Murgia, V. Palmas, T. Camboni, S. Liggi, I. Ibba, M. A. Lai, S. Orrù, S. Blois, A. L. Loizedda, J. L. Griffin, P. Usai, P. Caboni, L. Atzori, and A. Manzin, 'Cross sectional evaluation of the gut-microbiome metabolome axis in an Italian cohort of IBD patients', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2017.
- [27] J. Kisuse, O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka, S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in

Thailand', Front. Microbiol., vol. 9, pp. 1-16, 2018.

Chapter 5

In vitro study on the influence of sticky rice on GIT microbial community

5.1. Abstract

Rice is the major staple food in Thailand. In the northern and northestern regions of Thailand, sticky rice, also known as glutinous rice, called "Khao Lam" in Thai, as well as Thai jasmine rice "Khao Hom" are consumed. In this chapter, the author conducted a pH-controlled in vitro culture with fecal inoculant to investigate the effect of sticky rice on the gut microbial community in comparison with the jasmine rice. The composition of bacteria and short-chain fatty acids were monitored in this model up to 24h. In both media added jasmine and sticky rice powder, lactate sharply increased after 12h with an increase in Bifidobacterium, whereas it was not observed in the control batch suggesting Bifidobacterium growth with lactate fermentation using rice carbohydrate. On the other hand, it was found Bacteroides favoured sticky rice to jasmine rice. Hence, the promotion of Bifidobacterium is expected to benefit host health, while the health benefit of Bacteroides requires further studies.

5.2. Introduction

Traditional Thai diet is rich in vegetables, fruits, legumes, cereals and low in animal fat and proteins. It is reported to be associated with good health life and prevention of diseases [1]. Since the 13th Century, rice has been the major staple crop for both export and local consumption within Thailand [1], [2]. Rice production in Thailand mainly focuses on two major varieties of rice namely, jasmine rice and sticky rice [2], while their consumption depends on region [3], [4], [28]. Thai households consumed lesser rice per person per year in 2002 compared to 1990, which was thought to be affected by urbanization [5]. Moreover, the demand for rice in recent years has risen with low supply which is also threatened by urbanization [2], [5]. By definition jasmine rice is a white colour long-grain of indica variety with an evident aroma and contain large amount of amylose, mainly grown in Thailand, while Thai sticky rice is a short-grain of japonica variety, with a relatively large amount of amylopectin which makes it sticky. Thai sticky rice is grown mainly in the Northeast region and is an essential ingredient in Thai dessert, whereas jasmine rice is the most famous white rice in Thai [25].

Present study shows that children of Bangkok (urban) as well as Buriram (rural) had a frequency of rice consumption (Fig. 5.1 a & b) which has confirmed that rice is the main source in their diet. Buriram children highly consumed the sticky rice prepared by steaming as well as jasmine rice. This cooking method enhances colonic health formation [6] of resistant starch (RS) type 3 [7] which is later enhanced by retrogradation and promote colonic SCFA fermentation [8], [9].

Hence, the effect of sticky rice on gut microbiota and its production of SCFAs is yet to be established. Moreover, the information on the colonic fermentation of sticky rice is very limited in comparison to that of jasmine rice fermentation [10]. Hence the author compare the influence of sticky rice on gut microbial community with that of jasmine rice findings using in vitro culture system with the inoculant of *Prevotella* or *Bifidobacterium* rich feces, respectively, and monitoring of the SCFA production and change in gut microbiota [11].



Figure. 5.1. Shows frequency of carbohydrates-based diet intake significantly frequently consumed high by Buriram children as compared to the Bangkok children. P-value calculated by Welch t.test.

Table 1.1. Statistics of 1-week shows energy gained following rice consumption in Bangkok and Buriram children.

	BK (n=15)	BR (n=27)	
	Energy (kcal/day)		t.test
Steamed rice	140 ± 77.4	209.1 ± 91.9	0.015
Rice porridge	24.9 ± 27.3	13.8 ± 28.1	0.221
Steamed			
glutinous rice	13.1 ± 20.7	97.6 ± 115.3	0.001

Energy gained was from the frequency of rice consumption per week. Statistical test was calculated by Welch t.test. [12].

5.3. Materials and method

5.3.1. Study design

The stool was collected from two adult participants (Table 5.2) who have no past gastrointestinal diseases, no antibiotic usage within the previous 3 weeks. Since the volunteers' gut microbiota has been previously analysed, they were chosen for the current study representing *Prevotella* (P) - and *Bifidobacterium* (B)-type respectively (figure 5.4). Fresh feces were collected into a 76 X 20-mm sterile container with 2 mL of RNAlater (Ambion, Inc., Austin, TX, United States) for 16S rRNA gene sequencing, and a 55 X 44-mm sterile container for metabolites (Short-Chain Fatty Acid - SCFA) extraction (Sarstedt, Nümbrecht, Germany) for the control followed by the in vitro fermentation. The fecal inoculum for the in vitro culture was collected using a BD CultureSwab Plus

system contains a 5-mL Amies agar gel column for preserving both aerobic and anaerobic organisms from the fecal samples.

	F1 (<i>Prevotella</i> dominant)	F2 (Bifidobacterium dominant)
Age (y)	29	34
Gender	Female	Male
Height (cm)	156	168
Weight (kg)	61	65
BMI (kg/m ²)	25	23
County	Tanzania	Thailand

Table 5.2 Characteristics of the fecal inoculant

5.3.2. Preparations of Thai sticky and jasmine rice powder

Thai sticky rice was obtained from the department of crop science at Kasetsart University in Thailand, while jasmine rice was bought from Asian supermarket in Kitakyushu. The rice was measured 80gm by OHAUS EX224G/AD and soaked into 80mls of water in the cooker for 30 minutes. Then, rice was boiled with the same soaked water until became dry. It was then moved in the top under the rice cooker cover, while boiled water was added in the cooker, steam-cooked till the rice was done. The cooked rice was then transferred into falcon tubes and frozen at -80°C overnight. On the next day, the frozen rice was lyophilized using the FDU-1200 model freeze drier. The freeze-dried rice was then ground by pestle to obtain fine powder which was kept in small plastic bags and stored in the desiccator for moisture prevention until was used (Fig. 5.2.) [11].

5.3.3. Medium preparation for in vitro culture

In vitro stool culture was performed according to a protocol modified from the method described in the previous paper [13]. Two 100-ml Duran bottles were supplemented with Basal Culture Medium (BCM) added by 1% w/v of sticky and jasmine rice powder. The BCM contained, peptone water at 2 g l⁻¹, yeast extract at 2 g l⁻¹, NaCl at 0.1 g l⁻¹, K₂HPO₄ at 40 mg l⁻¹, KH₂PO₄ at 40 mg l⁻¹, MgSO₄·7H₂O at 10 mg l⁻¹, CaCl₂ . 6H₂O at 10 mg l⁻¹, NaHCO₃ at 2 g l⁻¹, L-cysteine at 0.05%, bile salts at 0.5 g l⁻¹, vitamin K at 10 μ l l⁻¹, Tween 80 at 2 ml l⁻¹ and hemin at 5 mgl⁻¹, and was adjusted to pH 7.4). For the negative control, the third bottle contained only BCM medium with no rice supplement. The medium was autoclaved (121°C for 15 minutes), left to cool to about 50°C. It was moved to the Anaerobic (inoculation) chamber, and the mixtures were transferred into respective fermenter jar connected with pH probe as well as 1M NaOH for pH control.



Figure 5.2. Procedures for the preparation of sticky and jasmine rice powder

5.3.4. Single batch fermentation model with feces inoculant and rice powder

The author conducted single batch culture according to the method of reference [14] with some modification including sampling time interval, fecal inoculant diluted with fresh BCM media and inoculant used directly without prior storage. The single batch fermenter was connected by a 200ml bottle of NaOH and pH probe to control pH in the culture medium, also connected by the tube supplying the mixture gas of N₂ and CO₂ (80:20) to maintain anaerobic condition. Fermentation was commenced by inoculating fecal suspension by 5% v/v into each three fermenter vessels of 100 ml working volume. The 5% v/v fecal suspension was prepared by swab collecting feces was

dipped into falcon tube with 15 ml of fresh BCM media, vortexed and then 5ml of fecal suspension was inoculated on each 100ml-fermenter. The gas was purged during fermentation at a rate of 15ml/min and the pH was adjusted automatically to 6.5 by the addition of 1M NaOH. Sample were collected at 0, 4, 8, 12, 24h after the inoculation for 16S rRNA gene sequencing, and SCFA quantification (Figure 5.3) and stored at -80°C before processing.



Figure 5.3. Procedure sequence of in-vitro fecal fermentation

5.3.5. pH measurement

Soon after collection, the culture broth was centrifuged at 9000xg for 5 minutes at 4°C and pH of the supernatant was measured by pH metre (DKK-TOA corporation Japan version HM-41X) [13].

5.3.6. DNA extraction and 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequencing

The extraction of bacterial DNA from in vitro culture was performed as in 3.3.3 with few modifications. Briefly, the collected culture sample was thawed and then centrifugation at 9000xg for 5 minutes at 4°C, and thereafter, 200 μ l of supernatant was taken and subjected into the phenol-chloroform beads extraction methods to yield total bacterial DNA. Then 16S rRNA gene was amplified and applied to the amplicon sequencing using MiSeq sequencer, as described in 3.3.4 chapter 3.

5.3.7. Processing of 16S rRNA gene amplicon sequences

The paired-end sequences obtained by MiSeq were analysed using the Uparse pipeline in Usearch v9.2 [15]. The OTU sequences were taxonomically assigned by EZbiocloud platform [16]. Furthermore, the taxonomic profile of each sample was determined by QIIME in ver1.8.0.

5.3.8. Quantification of short-chain fatty acid

The collected culture broth was centrifuged at 9000xg for 10 minutes at 4°C and 200 μ l of supernatant was transferred into a new Eppendorf tube. Then, 500 μ l of methanol and 500 μ l of chloroform were added to the culture supernatant and vortexed, and centrifuged at 4,600 g for 30 minutes, at 4°C. 300 μ l of the aqueous layer was transferred into Amicon ® Ultra Centrifugal filter Ultracel® (Tullagreen, Carrigtwohill, Ireland) and centrifuged at 9,100xg for 3 h, at 4°C. The 300ul filtrate was briefly vortexed for 3 seconds, transferred into the new Eppendorf tube, and applied to integrate Speedvac

concentrator (EYELA FDU-1200, Tokyo Rikakikai Co., LTD., Japan) without heating to evaporate the solvent. 700 µl of NMR solution (PBS/D20 buffer 0.1M, pH 7.4 containing 0.4 M of TSP [Sodium-3-(Trimethylsilyl) propionate-2,2,3,3,d4] was added to the dried pellets to resolve the extracted metabolites. The sample was then centrifuged 9,100xg at 4°C for 10 minutes. Finally, the solution was filled into NMR tube (Hilgenberg GmbH, German) and stored at 4°C until NMR measurement.

5.3.9. Quantification of SCFAs by ¹H NMR

The 400MHz ¹H-NMR was quantitatively measured at 25°C on a JNM-ECZ400S (JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan). The spectrum was obtained by a standard ¹H-NMR pulse sequence with 90° pulse and 10 s delay time while suppressing water signal by using a presaturation method. The number of scans was 64.

The obtained FID signal was subject to Fourier Transformation to yield the ¹H NMR spectra, thereafter manually phased, baseline corrected, and integrated in JEOL Delta v5.3.1. The chemical shift and integration were referenced to TSP at 0.00 ppm and 9 protons, respectively. The concentrations of major SCFAs namely acetic acid, proprionic acid, butyric acid and lactate were determined according to the integrations of peaks at the corresponding the chemical shifts (see equation 5.1)

Concentration of metabolite (NMR) =

Sample integrated value X (Concentration of TSP) X (Proton number of TSP)...

(TSP integrated value) X (Proton number of peak)

Equation 5.1

5.4. Results

5.4.1. Microbial profile fecal inoculant donors

The fecal samples were chosen as inoculant due to their distinct microbiome profile (figure 5.4.). F1 was characterized by abundances of *Bacteroidetes* phylum with *prevotellaceae* family dominance while microbiota of F2 was dominated by *bifidobacteriaceae* family of *Actinobacteria* phylum.



Figure 5.4. Microbial composition of the fecal inoculant (F1 and F2)

5.4.2. Characteristic of bacterial composition of fecal inoculant

The alpha diversity of these two fecal inoculants was calculated based on their OTU composition. As a result, the alpha diversity indices namely, Chao1 (species richness), Shannon (species abundance) and (Observed species), were significantly higher in the F2 donor than the F1 donor (Figure 5.5.A)

Taxonomic compositions of the two inoculants were analysed. The OTUs accounting for more than 1% of total community were shown in Figure 5.5.B. *Firmicutes*

prevailed in both inoculants, while trade-off of some taxonomic groups was observed between these two inoculants, such as genera *Collinsella* and *Eubacterium_g24* dominated in F2 and *Alloprevotella* and *Coprococcus eutactus* dominated in F1 inoculant.



Figure 5.5. A. Alpha diversity metrics of two inoculants. Alpha diversity was calculated from the triplicate sample in 1000 iterations (P-value was calculated by Welch's T.Test).



94

Figure 5.5. B. Relative abundances of dominant OTUs in each inoculant. The OTUs accounting for higher than 1% of total community were shown (P-value was calculated by Welch's T.Test).

5.4.3. pH change profile in the in vitro fermentation

The in vitro culture was performed with combination of rice and inoculant. Either of two types of rice, namely sticky rice powder and jasmine rice powder, was added to the medium and was inoculated by one of the two stool samples; for the control, no rice powder was added. During the fermentation, the pH was kept mostly constant but was slightly decreasing over time (7.4 - 6.5) in some fermentation, suggesting the validity of the pH control system (figure 5.6).



Figure 5.6. Succession of pH during fermentation of both F1 and F2 inoculants. The fermentation was performed in triplicate for each inoculant.

5.4.4. Change in bacteria composition in the in vitro rice fermentation

5.4.4.1. Change in alpha diversity

The successions of alpha diversities, namely chao1 (species richness) and observed_species, were plotted for each fermentation. When inoculated by F2 as well as negative control, alpha diversities tended to decrease for the first eight hours, while the decrease of alpha diversity appeared from 8 to 12 h after inoculation of F1 feces (figure 5.7. A. to D.). All the in vitro rice fermentation by fecal inoculant was conducted in triplicate on both F1 and F2 inoculant in both control, jasmine rice, and sticky rice.



Figure 5.7. A.-D. Succession of alpha diversity indices (Chao1 and observed_species) during rice fermentation. Two different types of rice, namely sticky rice and jasmine rice

were added to the medium. For the negative control, no rice was added. The media were inoculated by the two fecal inoculants and anaerobically incubated for fermentation.

5.4.4.2. Microbial community shift during fermentation of sticky and jasmine rice

The succession of bacteria during composition during fermentation was graphed at the phylum and family level in (figure 5.8. A. and B.). All fecal inoculants were dominated by the major phyla, namely *Firmicutes*, *Bacteroidetes*, and *Actinobacteria*, while F2 inoculant had more Actinobacteria than F1 inoculant. At family level, F1 inoculant contained more *Prevotellaceae* and unclassified *Clostridiaceae* and F2 inoculant contained more *Bifidobacterium*, *Bacteroides*, and *Coriobacteriaceae* compare with other (figure 5.8.A. and B.).

Immediately after inoculation, there was a low level of these major bacteria phyla which might be due to low concentration of fecal inoculant used, but at 24 hours, there was a robust shift of *Actinobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* observed in both jasmine and sticky rice under F1 inoculant fermentation. Despite the same basal medium used, but the changes in *Actinobacteria* and *Bacteroidetes* was low in F2 inoculant, although not significant (figure 5.8. A). The level of the same phyla in the F2 inoculant was small, although not significantly different.

Interestingly, we observed some bacterial community trend of relations during fermentation at family level involved F1 inoculant on both rice treatments. In jasmine rice, bacteria belonging to family *Peptostreptococcaceae* steadily decreased while *Clostridiaceae* increased in abundance until the last hour of fermentation. Whereas,

sticky rice demonstrated a clear difference in which family *Peptostreptococcaceae* increased with the increase in *Clostridiaceae* until 12 hours, but, both families decreased at 24 hours as *Actinobacteria* family powerful dominated in abundance (Fig. 5.. B). The F2 inoculant shows a trend can be noticed but not consistent and is somewhat different from the F1 inoculant (Fig. 5.8. B).


Figure 5.8. Relative abundances of bacteria at (**A**) phylum and (**B**) family's level. Average of three runs on each fermentation were graphed.

5.4.4.4. Changes in the ration of Bacteroidetes, Actinobacteria and Firmicutes

In all batches the ratio of *Bacteroidetes* to *Firmicutes* was decreasing until 12 h and then increased to 24 h (figure 5.9. A. and B.). The increase of *Bacteroidetes* in later phase was more in control batch than in rice batches, suggesting that *Bacteroidetes* grow more competitive in non-carbohydrate condition. The later-phase increase of *Bacteroidetes* was much less in Jasmine rice batch, while it was evident in sticky rice batch. This indicates that *Bacteroidetes* favour sticky rice. These tendencies were common in both P- and B-inoculant batches (figure 5.9. A. and B.).

On the other hand, in the control batches ratio of *Actinobacteria* to *Firmicutes* decreased to the end of fermentation for both inoculants. The ratio of *Actinobacteria* increased sharply at 24 h in F2 inoculant for both jasmine and sticky rice fermentation while F1 inoculant favoured only sticky rice (figure 5.9. C. and D.).



Figure 5.9. Change in ratio of *Bacteroidetes* to *Firmicutes* (A. and B.) *Actinobacteria* to *Firmicutes* (C. and D.) during in vitro fermentation.

5.4.4.5. SCFAs production in in vitro fermentation

SCFA concentration were monitored in each fermenter using ¹H NMR. Acetate increased gradually after the inoculation, while the other SCFAs started to increase after 12 h. Productions of propionate and butyrate were observed slightly at 24 h, whereas lactate increased drastically after 12 h (figure 5.11), notably in Sticky-rice batch with B-type inoculant which reaches the same level as acetate (figure 5.10). The increase of lactate significantly correlated with the increase of *Bifidobacterium* (p=0.035, rho=0.25) (figure 5.12).



Figure 5.10. Individual SCFA from F1 (P-type) and F2 (B-type) inoculant fermentation



Figure 5.11. Lactate from F1 (P-type) and F2 (B-type) inoculant fermentation



Figure 5.12. *Bifidobacterium* species increased during fermentation with F1 and F2

5.5. Discussion

Rice is the staple food in Thailand, in which a variety of sticky and jasmine rice [10] are consumed in each province [12]. These varieties differ mostly in the main contents of starch, which is made from amylose and amylopectin [17] and dietary fibers, which influences on gut microbiota [18]. Notably, resistant starch must have profound impact on the composition and functionality of gut microbiota [7],[19]. This technique enhances the amount of resistance starch, specifically R3, once consumed by the host and provide the most crucial health benefits [6].

To understand the effect of two different cultivars of rice commonly consumed by Thai people, namely sticky and jasmine rice on the gut of Thai people, the author performed an in vitro fermentation using both sticky and jasmine rice as carbohydrate sources and using two different type of human feces, namely F1 and F2, each including high abundance of *Prevotella* and *Bacteroides* respectively.

The primary findings indicate that both rice powders prepared from jasmine and sticky rice promote the growth of *Bifidobacterium* and its lactate fermentation. Jasmine rice is somewhat favourable for the lactate production but there was no difference found in the growth of *Bifidobacterium*. In this study, the bacteria population was obtained by the 16S rRNA amplicon sequencing that represents only relative abundance not absolute abundance. Quantitative data of bacteria population may link more precisely bacteria growth to SCFA fermentation. It was also found that control batch without extra carbohydrate source promoted the growth of Bacteroides, while sticky rice but not jasmine rice did it even weakly. Phanphen Phoonlabdacha has reported that pregnant mother who daily consumed sticky rice in the north and north-east region in Thailand have a remarkably high abundance of *Bacteroides* in their gut (Ph.D thesis, P. Phoonlabdacha). Since the *Bacteroides* is taxonomically and phenotypically wide group, notably in terms of carbohydrate digestion activity, we should address species or enzymatic level of *Bacteroides* involved in the sticky rice-dependent growth.

A number of dietary intervention studies, including short and long term studies have their effects on the microbial composition, notably shift of *Bacteroidetes* to Firmicutes ratio [20]–[22]. The fact that shift of the B/F ratio was also observed in the in our in-vitro fermentation with sticky rice may suggest some health benefit of stick rice, although there are a profound number of controversial for the obesity-related B/F-ratio shift and also high glycemic index of sticky rice should be careful considered when consuming rice.

In general, the promotion of *Bifidobacterium* growth is expected to benefit the host health while the health benefit by the *Bacteroides* increases warranty for further study. On top of that, rice consumption for carbohydrates, should be good health cultivar and well prepared to minimize risks associated with Diabetes mellitus [23], [24].

5.6 References

- V. Kosulwat, 'The nutrition and health transition in Thailand', *Public Health Nutr.*, vol. 5, no. 1a, pp. 183–189, 2002.
- [2] C. Chuasuwan, 'Rice industry', Thail. Ind. Outlook 2017-19, pp. 1–7, 2018.
- [3] P. Van Esterik, 'From marco polo to mcdonald's: Thai cuisine in transition', *Food Foodways*, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 177–193, 1992.
- [4] S. A. Seubsman, M. Kelly, P. Yuthapornpinit, and A. Sleigh, 'Cultural resistance to fast-food consumption? A study of youth in North Eastern Thailand', *Int. J. Consum. Stud.*, vol. 33, no. 6, pp. 669–675, 2009.
- [5] S. Isvilanonda and W. Kongrith, 'Thai Household' s Rice Consumption and Its Demand Elasticity', *Asean Econ. Bull.*, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 271–282, 2008.
- [6] R. L. Ordonio and M. Matsuoka, 'Increasing resistant starch content in rice for better consumer health', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 113, no. 45, pp. 12616– 12618, 2016.
- [7] D. F. Birt, T. Boylston, S. Hendrich, J.-L. Jane, J. Hollis, L. Li, J. McClelland, S. Moore, G. J. Phillips, M. Rowling, K. Schalinske, M. P. Scott, and E. M. Whitley, 'Resistant Starch: Promise for Improving Human Health', *Adv. Nutr.*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 587–601, 2013.
- [8] S. Macfarlane and G. T. Macfarlane, 'Regulation of short-chain fatty acid production', *Proc. Nutr. Soc.*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 67–72, 2003.
- [9] G. R. Gibson, R. Hutkins, M. E. Sanders, S. L. Prescott, R. A. Reimer, S. J. Salminen, K. Scott, C. Stanton, K. S. Swanson, P. D. Cani, K. Verbeke, and G. Reid, 'Expert consensus document: The International Scientific Association for Probiotics and Prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of prebiotics', *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.*, vol. 14, no. 8, pp. 491–502, 2017.

- [10] F. Ayimbila and S. Keawsompong, 'In Vitro Starch Digestion and Colonic Fermentation of Thai Jasmine Rice', *Starch/Staerke*, vol. 70, no. 9–10, pp. 1–9, 2018.
- [11] T. Chen, W. Long, C. Zhang, S. Liu, L. Zhao, and B. R. Hamaker, 'Fiber-utilizing capacity varies in Prevotella- versus Bacteroides-dominated gut microbiota', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–7, 2017.
- [12] J. Kisuse, O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka, S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in Thailand', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2018.
- [13] W. Long, Z. Xue, Q. Zhang, Z. Feng, L. Bridgewater, L. Wang, L. Zhao, and X. Pang, 'Differential responses of gut microbiota to the same prebiotic formula in oligotrophic and eutrophic batch fermentation systems', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 5, no. c, 2015.
- [14] R. Takagi, K. Sasaki, D. Sasaki, I. Fukuda, K. Tanaka, K. Yoshida, A. Kondo, and R. Osawa, 'A single-batch fermentation system to simulate human colonic microbiota for high-throughput evaluation of prebiotics', *PLoS One*, vol. 11, no. 8, pp. 1–16, 2016.
- [15] R. C. Edgar, 'UPARSE: highly accurate OTU sequences from microbial amplicon reads.', *Nat. Methods*, vol. 10, no. 10, pp. 996–8, 2013.
- [16] S. H. Yoon, S. M. Ha, S. Kwon, J. Lim, Y. Kim, H. Seo, and J. Chun, 'Introducing EzBioCloud: A taxonomically united database of 16S rRNA gene sequences and whole-genome assemblies', *Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol.*, vol. 67, no. 5, pp. 1613– 1617, 2017.

- [17] B. O. JULIANO, 'Rice Starch Properties and Grain Quality.', J. Japanese Soc. Starch Sci., vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 11–21, 1992.
- [18] S. Maccaferri, A. Klinder, S. Cacciatore, R. Chitarrari, H. Honda, C. Luchinat, I. Bertini, P. Carnevali, G. R. Gibson, P. Brigidi, and A. Costabile, 'In vitro fermentation of potential prebiotic flours from natural sources: Impact on the human colonic microbiota and metabolome', *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.*, vol. 56, no. 8, pp. 1342–1352, 2012.
- [19] Y. Nakayoshi, S. Nakamura, Y. Kameo, D. Shiiba, Y. Katsuragi, and K. Ohtsubo, 'Measurement of resistant starch content in cooked rice and analysis of gelatinization and retrogradation characteristics', *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, vol. 79, no. 11, pp. 1860–1866, 2015.
- [20] L. A. David, C. F. Maurice, R. N. Carmody, D. B. Gootenberg, J. E. Button, B. E. Wolfe, A. V Ling, A. S. Devlin, Y. Varma, M. A. Fischbach, S. B. Biddinger, R. J. Dutton, and P. J. Turnbaugh, 'Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome', *Nature*, vol. 505, no. 7484, pp. 559–563, 2014.
- [21] M. Aguirre, A. Eck, M. E. Koenen, P. H. M. Savelkoul, A. E. Budding, and K. Venema, 'Diet drives quick changes in the metabolic activity and composition of human gut microbiota in a validated in vitro gut model', *Res. Microbiol.*, vol. 167, no. 2, pp. 114–125, 2016.
- [22] H. K. A. H. Gamage, S. G. Tetu, R. W. W. Chong, J. Ashton, N. H. Packer, and I. T. Paulsen, 'Cereal products derived from wheat, sorghum, rice and oats alter the infant gut microbiota in vitro', *Sci. Rep.*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–12, 2017.
- [23] H. M. Boers, J. Seijen Ten Hoorn, and D. J. Mela, 'A systematic review of the influence of rice characteristics and processing methods on postprandial glycaemic and insulinaemic responses', *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 114, no. 7, pp. 1035–1045, 2015.
- [24] T. Nakayama, Y. Nagai, Y. Uehara, Y. Nakamura, S. Ishii, H. Kato, and Y. Tanaka, 'Eating glutinous brown rice twice a day for 8 weeks improves glycemic control in

Japanese patients with diabetes mellitus', *Nutr. Diabetes*, vol. 7, no. 5, pp. e273–6, 2017.

[25] Factsanddetails.com 2014, accessed 14 August 2020, < http://factsanddetails.com/southeast-asia/Thailand/sub5_8h/entry-3321.html>

Chapter 6

Summary and concluding remarks

It is known that a traditional Thai diet is relatively high in vegetables and low in fat. Moreover, their recipes improve health since they lower the disease causative agents like in cancer [7]. However, food modernization is not always benefit in terms of the increase in refined carbohydrates, sugars, fats, animal proteins and synthetic food additives. Previous studies have shown the effect of Western diets (WD), in which, regardless of age, bacteria richness, and diversity were low [2]–[4]. Moreover, WD mainly enriched *Bifidobacterium*, *Bacteroides*, and some firmicutes; in contrarily, traditional diets reserve mostly *Prevotella* [2]–[6].

In this doctoral thesis, the author described the effect of dietary life change, notably loss the Thai traditional diets on Thai gut microbiome.

Chapter 1 provide general idea on the status of Thai gut microbiome and their health and dietary lifestyle.

Chapter 2 indicated the current status of school-age children in urban and rural regions. The Buriram children consumed a traditional diet rich in vegetables and less sugars while Bangkok children consumed diet high in fat, proteins, and less vegetables which reflects the modernization in the city.

Chapter 3 clearly showed the shift in microbial composition in relation to the consumption of different dietary nutrients between urban and rural. The author documented that Bangkok children had high abundance of bacteria commonly higher in Italy, which appears to correspond to gut microbiome of urban children in Thailand. In contrast, the Buriram children harboured more diversified bacteria including beneficial bacteria compared to Bangkok children. The author suggests that the urbanization has a profound influence on gut health of Thai through decrease of their traditional diets.

In chapter 4, the author indicated that Buriram children had a high concentration of both butyrate and propionate in their gut as compared to Bangkok children. These differences in the SCFAs' concentrations reflected to the differences in the bacterial composition between these two cities. The fecal metabolites profiles from two cities were clustered into five metabolotypes each characterized by high abundance of SCFAs and MCFAs (MT1), amino acids (MT2), arginine (MT3), overall, less (MT4), and amino acids and amines (MT5). MT1 mostly comprised of Buriram children, while MT2 mostly comprised of Bangkok children. Further predicted functional metagenomics showed under-representation of eight genes involved in butyrate biosynthesis pathways in MT2. Altogether, it is suggested that the diets low in vegetable and high in fat decrease in colonic short-chain fatty acid fermentation through the alteration of gut microbiome.

In chapter 5, the author monitored the effect of sticky and jasmine rice on the composition of bacteria and short-chain fatty acids for up to 24h in the in vitro culture system. In both media added jasmine and sticky rice powder, lactate sharply increased after 12h with an increase in *Bifidobacterium*, whereas it was not observed in the control batch suggesting *Bifidobacterium* growth with lactate fermentation using rice carbohydrate while the *Bacteroides* favoured sticky rice. The promotion of *Bifidobacterium* is expected to benefit host health, while the health benefit of *Bacteroides* requires further studies.

In conclusion, the decrease of traditional diet in Thailand reduces the benefit of gut microbiome through the alteration of structure and functionality of bacterial community. Furthermore, the author demonstrated the efficacy of in vitro culture model to investigate the effect of food component on the structure and functionality of gut bacterial community. Since it is indispensable to evaluate the functionality of each food

111

in respect to the benefit to gut microbiota in addition to direct host benefit, it is important to continue in vivo and in vitro studies to investigate the link between diet and gut microbiome.

References

- [1] V. Kosulwat, 'The nutrition and health transition in Thailand', *Public Health Nutr.*, vol. 5, no. 1a, pp. 183–189, 2002.
- [2] C. De Filippo, D. Cavalieri, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, J. B. Poullet, S. Massart,
 S. Collini, G. Pieraccini, and P. Lionetti, 'Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from Europe and rural Africa', *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.*, vol. 107, no. 33, pp. 14691–14696, 2010.
- [3] I. Martínez, J. C. Stegen, M. X. Maldonado-Gómez, M. A. Eren, P. M. Siba, A. R. Greenhill, and J. Walter, 'The Gut Microbiota of Rural Papua New Guineans: Composition, Diversity Patterns, and Ecological Processes', *Cell Rep.*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 527–538, 2015.
- [4] C. De Filippo, M. Di Paola, M. Ramazzotti, D. Albanese, G. Pieraccini, E. Banci,
 F. Miglietta, D. Cavalieri, and P. Lionetti, 'Diet, environments, and gut microbiota.
 A preliminary investigation in children living in rural and Urban Burkina Faso and
 Italy', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 8, no. OCT, pp. 1–14, 2017.
- [5] V. Shankar, M. Gouda, J. Moncivaiz, A. Gordon, N. V Reo, L. Hussein, and O. Paliy, 'Differences in Gut Metabolites and Microbial Composition and Functions', vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 1–15, 2017.
- [6] S. Rampelli, S. L. Schnorr, C. Consolandi, S. Turroni, M. Severgnini, C. Peano, P. Brigidi, A. N. Crittenden, A. G. Henry, and M. Candela, 'Metagenome Sequencing of the Hadza Hunter-Gatherer Gut Microbiota', *Curr. Biol.*, vol. 25, no. 13, pp. 1682–1693, 2015.
- [7] Kangsadalampai, K., and Plaingam, W. (2008). "Antimutagenicity of different Thai

dishes against nitrite treated 1 aminopyrene using ames test," in Proceedings of the First National Conference on Toxicology, Bangkok.

List of publications

- Kisuse J., O. La-ongkham, M. Nakphaichit, P. Therdtatha, R. Momoda, M. Tanaka, S. Fukuda, S. Popluechai, K. Kespechara, K. Sonomoto, Y. K. Lee, S. Nitisinprasert, and J. Nakayama, 'Urban diets linked to gut microbiome and metabolome alterations in children: A comparative cross-sectional study in Thailand', *Front. Microbiol.*, vol. 9, pp. 1–16, 2018.
- Kisuse, J. and Nakayama, J. (2017). '16S rRNA Metagenomics of Asian Gut Microbiota' in Ravindra P.S., Ramesh K., Prakash G.K., Satya P.S. Understanding Host Microbiome Interaction- An Omics Approach. Singapore, Springer Nature, p.71-81.